

## UNIVERSIDADE FEDERAL DO PARÁ INSTITUTO DE CIÊNCIAS BIOLÓGICAS EMBRAPA AMAZÔNIA ORIENTAL PROGRAMA DE PÓS-GRADUAÇÃO EM ECOLOGIA

LUCAS FERREIRA COLARES

O papel da raridade e da sensibilidade à perda de habitat nos padrões de extinção funcional de peixes em riachos Amazônicos

> Belém 2021

#### LUCAS FERREIRA COLARES

# O papel da raridade e da sensibilidade à perda de habitat nos padrões de extinção funcional de peixes em riachos Amazônicos

Dissertação apresentada ao Programa de Pós-Graduação em Ecologia do convênio da Universidade Federal do Pará e Embrapa Amazônia Oriental, como requisito parcial para obtenção do título de Mestre em Ecologia. Área de concentração: Ecologia. Linha de Pesquisa: Ecologia de Comunidades e Ecossistemas

Orientadora: Profa. Dra. Bárbara Dunck Oliveira Coorientador: Prof. Dr. Luciano Fogaça de Assis Montag

> Belém 2021

#### LUCAS FERREIRA COLARES

# O papel da raridade e da sensibilidade à perda de habitat nos padrões de extinção funcional de peixes em riachos Amazônicos

Dissertação apresentada ao Programa de Pós-Graduação em Ecologia do convênio da Universidade Federal do Pará e Embrapa Amazônia Oriental, como requisito parcial para obtenção do título de Mestre em Ecologia e aprovada pela Comissão Julgadora composta pelos membros:

#### COMISSÃO JULGADORA

Dra. **Bárbara Dunck Oliveira** Universidade Federal Rural da Amazônia (Presidente)

Prof. Dr. **Raphael Ligeiro Barroso Santos** Universidade Federal do Pará (Membro interno)

> Prof. Dr. **Leandro Juen** Universidade Federal do Pará (Membro interno)

Prof. Dr. Jean Carlo Gonçalves Ortega Universidade Federal do Acre (Membro externo)

Profa. Dra. Natália Carneiro Lacerda dos Santos Universidade do Estado de Santa Catarina (Membro externo)

> Prof. Dr. Kirk O. Winemiller Texas A&M University (Membro externo)

Aprovada em: 27 de fevereiro de 2021 Local de defesa: vídeo conferência, através da plataforma Google Meet.

Dados Internacionais de Catalogação na Publicação (CIP) de acordo com ISBD Sistema de Bibliotecas da Universidade Federal do Pará Gerada automaticamente pelo módulo Ficat, mediante os dados fornecidos pelo(a) autor(a)

C683p Colares, Lucas Ferreira. O papel da raridade e da sensibilidade à perda de habitat nos padrões de extinção funcional de peixes em riachos Amazônicos / Lucas Ferreira Colares. — 2021. 95 f. : il. color.

> Orientador(a): Prof<sup>a</sup>. Dra. Bárbara Dunck Coorientador(a): Prof. Dr. Luciano Fogaça de Assis Montag Dissertação (Mestrado) - Universidade Federal do Pará, Instituto de Ciências Biológicas, Programa de Pós-Graduação em Ecologia, Belém, 2021.

1. Traços funcionais. 2. Raridade funcional. 3. Uso de solo. 4. Desmatamento. 5. Ecologia trófica. I. Título.

CDD 574.522209811

## DEDICATÓRIA

My mom always told me that I would make it,

So, I made it.

#### AGRADECIMENTOS

Primeiramente, sou extremamente grato aos meus orientadores, Bárbara Dunck e Luciano Montag, pela jornada incrível nos últimos anos. Vocês não têm ideia do quanto contribuíram para o meu desenvolvimento profissional. Vocês dois são minha inesgotável fonte de inspiração na academia.

Agradeço imensamente aos meus amigos e família pelo suporte em momentos difíceis e por sempre acreditarem no meu potencial. Nada do que foi desenvolvido em minha carreira científica até agora seria possível sem o apoio de vocês, portanto, obrigado.

Obrigado aos meus professores durante o mestrado. Mesmo quando eu achei que não iria aprender nada novo em uma disciplina, vocês me provaram errado. O conhecimento que adquiri com vocês não tem preço e, mesmo se tivesse, eu não venderia por nada nesse mundo. Obrigado também ao Programa de Pós-Graduação em Ecologia da Universidade federal do Pará por ter me acolhido tão bem durante o mestrado.

Especificamente, gostaria de agradecer aos professores Helder Mateus Viana Espírito-Santo, Karl Cottenie, Rafael Leitão, Fernando Rodrigues da Silva, Fabrício Barreto Teresa e Roger Paulo Mormul pelos seus comentários valiosos em versões anteriores desta dissertação.

Agradeço à Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Nível Superior (CAPES) pela bolsa concedida a mim durante o mestrado. Agradeço também à CIKEL Ltda., 33 Forest Capital, Instituto Floresta Tropical, e Fundação de Amparo à Pesquisa do Estado de Minas Gerais (FAPEMIG) pelo apoio financeiro e logístico concedido para a realização deste trabalho.

### O papel da raridade e da sensibilidade à perda de habitat nos padrões de extinção funcional de peixes em riachos Amazônicos

#### **RESUMO**

A perda de habitat é uma das principais ameaças à biodiversidade no Antropoceno, frequentemente culminando na extinção de espécies e mudanças no funcionamento do ecossistema. Quando uma espécie é extinta, o papel que ela desempenhava na manutenção do ecossistema e da comunidade também é extinto, se nenhuma outra espécie desempenhar o mesmo papel. O risco de extinção depende da abundância, distribuição geográfica e sensibilidade ambiental das espécies, e dessa forma, espécies raras em relação a estes três aspectos estão em maior risco de extinção. Além disso, o risco de perda funcional também depende da raridade funcional das espécies, no qual traços funcionais distintos fornecidos por poucas espécies devem estar mais vulneráveis à extinção do que tracos suportados por muitas espécies. Para investigar o papel da raridade e da perda de habitat nos padrões de extinção funcional de peixes em riachos Amazônicos, nós desenvolvemos dois estudos, os quais os principais objetivos foram (1) investigar o papel da raridade das espécies na perda de traços funcionais e na raridade funcional das comunidades; e (2) investigar o papel da perda de habitat na perda de traços funcionais e na raridade funcional da comunidade. Para o primeiro estudo, amostramos a comunidade de peixes de 40 riachos pristinos na bacia do rio Capim, Amazônia oriental. Já pro segundo estudo, nós expandimos nossa amostragem para 63 riachos, na mesma bacia, que diferiam em relação ao uso e ocupação da terra, incluindo os 40 riachos pristinos do primeiro estudo. Para os dois estudos, nós atribuímos um traço funcional baseado na proporção de dieta de cada espécie, divido em sete categorias funcionais. Para o primeiro estudo, calculamos a raridade das espécies baseada na abundância local e ocorrência regional das espécies. Desenvolvemos cenários de extinção onde as espécies foram extintas das mais raras para as mais comuns (e vice-versa) e comparamos com cenários aleatórios de extinção. Para o segundo estudo, nós calculamos a integridade de habitat baseada em sete variáveis ambientais mensuradas nos riachos e determinamos a sensibilidade ambiental das espécies através de uma análise de limiares de táxons indicadores (Threshold Indicator Taxa Analysis; TITAN). Determinamos a sensibilidade ambiental das espécies como o mínimo de integridade necessária para que a espécie sobreviva, como retornado pelo TITAN. Posteriormente, nós construímos um modelo aditivo que considerou a raridade das espécies (como abundância e ocorrência) somado à sua sensibilidade ambiental. Dessa forma, nós consideramos espécies raras que só sobrevivem em habitats íntegros como sensíveis, e espécies comuns que conseguem sobreviver em baixa integridade de habitat como tolerantes. Finalmente, desenvolvemos cenários de extinção onde as espécies de peixes foram extintas das mais sensíveis para as mais tolerantes (e vice-versa) e comparamos com cenários aleatórios de extinção. No primeiro estudo, as espécies raras são as mais distintas funcionalmente nas duas escalas. Já no segundo estudo, espécies sensíveis são as mais distintas funcionalmente em escala local, mas em escala regional as espécies tolerantes são mais únicas funcionalmente. Independente da escala, quando espécies raras ou sensíveis são extintas primeiro, o ecossistema sofre uma perda funcional brusca após um limiar de até 15% de espécies extintas, em contraste com espécies comuns e tolerantes, que suportaram a extinção de >80% de espécies até a perda da primeira função. Se espécies raras e sensíveis forem realmente as primeiras a serem extintas após a perda de habitat, então podemos esperar que o ecossistema de riacho amazônico colapse graças à extinção de peixes detritívoros, piscívoros, algívoros e hematófagos, as categorias funcionais com maior risco de extinção nos dois estudos.

Palavras-chave: Traços funcionais efeito. Ecologia trófica. Água doce. Extinção em massa. Ecossistema tropical. Desmatamento. Uso da terra.

# The role of rarity and vulnerability to habitat loss in functional extinction patterns of fish from Amazon streams

#### ABSTRACT

Habitat loss is the major threat to biodiversity in the Anthropocene, often leading to species extinction and further changes in ecosystem and community dynamics. Once species are extinct, the role that once it played in the ecosystem and community maintenance also disappear if no other species continue to provide the same role in the ecosystem. The risk of extinction depends on species' abundance, geographical distribution, and habitat breadth, with rare species regarding each of these three aspects being at higher risk of extinction. The risk of functional extinction also depends on the functional rarity of species, with distinct traits provided by few species being more vulnerable to functional extinction than redundant ones. To disentangle the role of rarity and habitat loss in functional extinction of fish from Amazon streams, we developed two studies which main goals were (1) to investigate and scale the role of rarity in the loss of functional traits and functional rarity from fish communities; (2) and to investigate the role of habitat loss in the loss of functional traits and rarity from fish communities. For the first study, we sampled the fish community of 40 pristine streams in Capim river basin, eastern Amazon. For the second study, we expanded our samples to 63 streams in different land-uses from the Capim river basin, including the 40 streams from the first study. We assigned one functional trait based in the proportion of diet of each species, divided into seven functional categories. For the first study, we calculated species' rarity based on their abundance, at local scale, and occurrence, at regional scale. We built extinction scenario that extinguished species from the rarest to the commonest (and vice versa) and compared to random scenarios of extinction. For the second study, we calculated the habitat integrity based on seven environmental variables measured in each stream and determined species' habitat breadth using Threshold Indicator Taxa Analysis (TITAN). We determined species' vulnerability to habitat loss as the minimum of integrity required by species to occur in streams. We built an additive model in the second study that considered species' rarity (as abundance and occurrence) and its vulnerability to habitat loss, in this way, we considered as sensible species to habitat loss species with low abundance or occurrence and which survive only under high habitat integrity, and tolerant species as the ones with high abundance or occurrence and which are able to persist under low habitat integrity. We built extinction scenario that extinguished species from the most sensible to the most tolerant (and vice-versa) and compared to random scenarios of extinction. In the first study, we found that rare species, at local and regional scale, are more functionally distinct than common species. As for the second study, we found that sensible species are the distinct ones at local scale, but at the regional scale, tolerant species are the ones supporting unique functional traits, what may assure the resilience of the region. Regardless of the scale, when rare, in the first study, and sensible species, in the second study, were extinct, an abrupt loss of functions happened with the extinction of up to 15% of the species, in contrast with common and tolerant species, which supported the extinction of more than 80% of species until the first loss of function. If habitat loss indeed targets rare and sensible species to extinction, we can expect that Amazon streams collapse through the loss of detritivore, piscivore, algivore and hematophagous fish, the functional categories frequently at higher risk of extinction in both studies.

*Key-words:* Functional effect traits. Trophic ecology. Freshwater. Mass extinction. Tropical ecosystem. Deforestation. Land-use.

## SUMÁRIO

Introdução Geral	10
Sessão I: Extinction of scarce and restrict fish species lead to abrupt functio	nal
losses in Amazonian streams	12
Abstract	13
Introduction	14
Methods	
Field sampling	
Functional characterization	20
Species' rarity	23
Extinction scenarios and data analysis	25
Results	26
Discussion	
References	
Supporting Information	
Appendix A	48
Appendix B	49
Appendix C	55
Appendix D	59
Sessão II: Habitat loss and the fish functional extinctions in Amazonian stre	ams
during the Anthropocene	60
Abstract	61
Introduction	62
Methods	64
Results	73
Discussion	76
References	80
Supporting information	
Appendix A	
Conclusão Geral	93
Referências para as sessões "Introdução Geral" e "Conclusão Geral"	94
Lista de artigos publicados/submetidos durante o mestrado	96

#### INTRODUÇÃO GERAL

Durante os últimos séculos, os seres humanos vêm destruindo e degradando habitats naturais, introduzindo espécies exóticas, alterando o clima do planeta e seletivamente dizimando espécies (DIRZO *et al.*, 2014). Estas e outras atividades humanas desencadearam um sexto evento de extinção em massa na história do planeta, onde espécies estão sendo extintas mil vezes mais rápido do que o esperado naturalmente (PIMM *et al.*, 2014). Tendo em vista a rápida extinção de espécies no Antropoceno, cientistas têm investigado quais fatores contribuem para a vulnerabilidade à extinção das espécies afim de identificar quais espécies estão mais em risco de extinção (PIMM *et al.*, 2014).

A raridade tem sido constantemente indicada como um fator determinante no risco de extinção das espécies (HULL; DARROCH; ERWIN, 2015; VIOLLE et al., 2017) e pode ser expressa em três principais formas: abundância local; distribuição geográfica; e sensibilidade à distúrbios (HARNIK; SIMPSON; PAYNE, 2012; RABINOWITZ, 1981). Em termos de abundância, a população de uma espécie pode ser composta por poucos ou muitos indivíduos, sendo que populações de poucos indivíduos estão mais vulneráveis à extinção, tendo em vista que poucos indivíduos precisam ser perdidos até que a espécie seja extinta (VIOLLE et al., 2017). Em relação à distribuição geográfica, espécies podem ser amplamente distribuídas em diferentes populações em uma região ou restritas, distribuídas em poucas populações em uma região endêmica (LEITÃO et al., 2016). Dessa forma, espécies com uma distribuição geográfica restrita estão mais vulneráveis à extinção, já que poucas populações precisam ser extintas até que a espécie desapareça da região (VIOLLE et al., 2017). Já em relação à sensibilidade ambiental, algumas espécies persistem apenas em habitats íntegros específicos, e estas são espécies sensíveis à modificação de habitat. Em contraste, outras espécies persistem em diferentes habitats com diferentes condições ambientais, e estas são espécies tolerantes à modificação do habitat. Tendo em vista que o atual evento de extinção em massa está ocorrendo graças à grande modificação humana de habitats íntegros, espécies sensíveis estão em maior risco de extinção (BUENO et al., 2018).

Quando uma espécie é extinta, não só a sua presença é perdida em determinado habitat, mas também o papel que aquela espécie antes desempenhava na dinâmica da comunidade e no funcionamento do ecossistema, especialmente se nenhuma outra espécie continuar desempenhando o mesmo papel no habitat (VIOLLE *et al.*, 2017). Uma das formas de se avaliar os papéis desempenhados por cada espécie no ecossistema é através da avaliação de traços funcionais efeito, que são características morfofisiológicas e/ou comportamentais mensuradas à nível de individuo ou espécie que refletem o efeito da espécie na comunidade e ecossistema onde vive (MAMMOLA *et al.*, 2020). Apesar da influência da abundância, distribuição geográfica e sensibilidade ambiental no risco de extinção das espécies, a raridade funcional também tem um papel fundamental determinando o

risco de extinção funcional (perda de traços funcionais) em comunidades biológicas (LEITÃO *et al.*, 2016; SIQUEIRA *et al.*, 2012; VIOLLE *et al.*, 2017). Funcionalmente, as espécies podem desempenhar funções distintas ou redundantes em relação às outras que estão no mesmo local ou região, sendo consideradas distintas aquelas funções desempenhadas por uma única ou poucas espécies, em contrapartida com as funções redundantes, que são desempenhadas por muitas espécies ao mesmo tempo (BIGGS *et al.*, 2020). Portanto, funções distintas são mais vulneráveis à extinção, tendo em vista que é necessário a extinção de apenas uma ou poucas espécies até que a função seja extinta.

Diante do exposto, o objetivo desta dissertação foi investigar o papel das três principais formas de raridade nos padrões de extinção funcional de peixes em riachos Amazônicos. Especificamente, no Capítulo 1, investigamos o papel da abundância, em escala local, e distribuição geográfica, em escala regional, nos padrões de perda de raridade funcional e extinção de traços funcionais de peixes de riachos amazônicos. Já no Capítulo 2, construímos uma abordagem aditiva que combina a abundância, e distribuição geográfica, com a sensibilidade ambiental das espécies para, dessa forma, identificarmos o papel da modificação de habitat nos padrões de perda de raridade funcional e extinção de traços funcionais de peixes de riachos amazônicos.

# Extinction of scarce and restrict fish species lead to abrupt functional losses in Amazonian streams

Formatado conforme as normas da publicação científica *Freshwater Biology*, disponível em: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/page/jou rnal/13652427/homepage/forauthors.ht ml

# Extinction of scarce and restrict fish species lead to abrupt functional losses in Amazonian streams Abstract

- Species are being extinct faster than expected due to increasing human modification of natural habitat. When the extinction of a species culminates in the extinction of its role in ecosystem functioning, cascade effects occur throughout the community, altering ecosystem dynamics. The risk of functional extinction depends mainly on taxonomic and functional rarity, with nonredundant traits supported by rare species being more vulnerable.
- 2. To elucidate and scale the relationship between rarity and functional extinction, we developed simulations of extinction driven by species' rarity. First, we sampled the fish community of 40 pristine Amazon streams. Then, we assigned functional traits for each species related to its diet. Finally, we extinguished species from the rarest to the commonest (and vice-versa) and compared to random scenarios at a local and regional scale.
- 3. When the rarest species were extinct first, the community's functional rarity decreased, and the first functional category was lost after up to 15% of species extinct at local and regional scales. Otherwise, when the commonest were extinct first, the functional rarity increased, and the first functional category was lost after more than 85% of species extinct at both scales.
- 4. We observed that the extinction of rare and restrict species will bring detrimental effects to ecosystem functioning. If the ongoing mass extinction indeed targets rare species, we can expect Amazon streams to collapse due to the loss of detritivore, piscivore, algivore and hematophagous fish, the most vulnerable functional categories.

#### Introduction

Regardless of many definitions (Delord, 2007), it is widely accepted that extinction happens when the last individual of a species disappears from its geographical distribution (IUCN, 1994). It is a natural process that can occur at small scales, such as local extinction – when a species vanishes from a habitat but occurs in others (Leitão *et al.*, 2016) – and on large scales, such as global extinction – when a species vanishes from all its habitats on Earth (Hull, Darroch & Erwin, 2015). In the last centuries, humans have destroyed, fragmented and degraded natural habitats, introduced alien species, proliferated diseases, selectively killed species, and altered global climate with the development of human society (Barnosky *et al.*, 2011; Burkhead, 2012; Dirzo *et al.*, 2014; Pimm *et al.*, 2014). The unsustainable human population growth has triggered the sixth mass extinction event on Earth, where species are going extinct a thousand times faster than expected (Pimm *et al.*, 2014).

When a species goes extinct, the role that once it played in the dynamics of the community and ecosystem functioning is also gone if no other species continues to support the same role in the ecosystem (Violle *et al.*, 2017). Functional losses related to ecosystem and community maintenance can bring cascade effects to the environment, such as disruption of nutrient cycling (Taylor, Flecker & Hall, 2006). Moreover, functional extinction can bring changes in ecosystem processes, such as disruption of seed-dispersal (Pires *et al.*, 2018), pollination supported by insects (Crespo-Pérez *et al.*, 2020), decreases in nutrient release by fish and macro-invertebrates (Atkinson *et al.*, 2019), and shifts in species composition (Rees, Kingsford & Letnic, 2019).

The magnitude of impact from a functional extinction to the community or ecosystem depends on functional and taxonomical forms of rarity (Violle *et al.*, 2017). Rarity of the species has been pointed out as a determinant of species' extinction risk in past mass extinctions and current extinction events (Heim & Peters, 2011; Hull *et al.*, 2015), and can be expressed in several forms, such as geographical range or

local abundance of species (Harnik, Simpson & Payne, 2012). Functionally, species can provide unique or redundant morpho-physiological and behavioural characteristics (i.e., functional traits) compared to others in the community that will influence community and ecosystem dynamics (Cadotte, Carscadden & Mirotchnick, 2011; Violle *et al.*, 2017). While few species provide unique functional traits, redundant traits are provided by many species. In this way, unique traits should be more vulnerable to extinction, given that it takes one or a few species to be extinct for a functional extinction to occur (Naeem, 1998; Violle *et al.*, 2017). Taxonomically, species can be abundant or rare in the habitat and widespread or restricted in their geographical range compared to other species. In this way, unique traits provided by rare/restricted species should be more vulnerable to extinction since fewer individuals/populations need to go extinct before the trait is lost (Mouillot *et al.*, 2013; Walker, 2016; Violle *et al.*, 2017). Nevertheless, ecologists are far from a consensus on the real impact of rare and restrict species on ecosystem functioning compared to abundant and widespread ones (Grime, 1998; Violle *et al.*, 2017; Dee *et al.*, 2019).

Some studies have focused on the relationship between taxonomic rarity and functional extinction (Mouillot *et al.*, 2013; Leitão *et al.*, 2016), mainly through indexes such as functional diversity and functional vulnerability. However, few studies scale and disentangle which traits are more vulnerable to extinction, its relationship with taxonomic rarity, and possible effects on ecosystem functioning after its extinction (Violle *et al.*, 2017). Specifically, the scaling of functional extinction patterns should reveal even more complex relationships between functional extinction and ecosystem functioning since species can change in functional and taxonomic rarity from one scale to another. A species may support a locally distinct functional trait compared to other species of the same stream. However, the same species may share its functional traits with other species from other streams within the region, assuring the functional resilience of the region (Violle *et al.*, 2017). The same is true to species' taxonomic rarity since a species can have a high local abundance compared to the others of the same stream but can occur only in few

streams regionally (Violle *et al.*, 2017). For instance, a species may become an "ecological ghost" within a region when it is restricted to few sites, even if it is abundant in these sites, since it does not contribute significantly to ecosystem functioning in the region in comparison to widespread species (Hull *et al.*, 2015).

In this view, identifying the species which hold the most vulnerable functional traits considering different scales within a region may be useful in conservatory initiatives by giving direction to which species need urgent conservation to maintain ecosystem functioning and what may happen if they were extinct. Thus, identify species holding the most vulnerable traits should be especially urgent in highly diverse and threatened tropical ecosystems, such as Amazon. Data regarding biodiversity and its extinction risk is deficient in Amazon (Collen *et al.*, 2008; Hubbell *et al.*, 2009; Gueńard, Weiser & Dunn, 2012), and the forest support critical ecosystems processes that are currently threatened by human modification (Malhi *et al.*, 2008). Indeed, deforestation has been increasing in Amazon since 2012, reaching the highest peak of the past ten years in 2020 (TerraBrasilis, 2020). Land-use conversion, especially cattle ranching and soybean, has been the primary driver of this deforestation, and if current trends continue, we should expect 40% of forest loss by 2050 in Amazon (Soares-Filho *et al.*, 2006). Even with the current implementation of protected areas at Amazon, some essential ecosystems are still not entirely comprised within these areas, such as freshwater networks (Azevedo-Santos *et al.*, 2019), which, in Amazon, are responsible for about 20% of the world's freshwater discharge (Davidson *et al.*, 2012).

These freshwater ecosystems hold species networks with dependencies on energy exchanges with terrestrial habitats that have been ceaselessly exploited (Ballinger & Lake, 2006). Stream fish are an essential group to maintain stream functioning since they regulate energy exchanges with terrestrial habitats and within the stream through their relationships with other species (Zuanon & Ferreira, 2008). Thus, approaching the trophic networks to which fish participate in the stream can give insights about the

effects that species may have in the ecosystem and community they live in (Flecker, 1996; Ballinger & Lake, 2006; Gelwick & Mcintyre, 2017). Stream fish are among the most vulnerable groups to extinction due to the recent human exploitation and are underrated in the conservation initiatives currently implemented in Amazon (Frederico, Zuanon & De Marco, 2018).

In this context, we attempted to elucidate and scale the relationship between taxonomic rarity and functional extinction, disentangling functional extinction's possible effects on stream ecosystem dynamics. To do so, we generated two different scenarios of species extinction driven by taxonomic rarity at local (in individual streams) and regional (in an entire basin) scales. We investigated three questions: (1) How the functional rarity of the community change as species goes extinct based on their taxonomic rarity at local and regional scales? (2) How the loss of functional traits changes as species goes extinct based on their taxonomic rarity at local and regional scales? (3) Which are the traits most likely to go extinct first in different extinction scenarios at local and regional scales? For the first question, we hypothesized that when rare/restrict species are extinct first, the functional rarity of the community will decrease, at either scale. Concerning the second question, functional losses would start after a few rare/restrict species being extinct, in contrast, many abundant/widespread species should be extinct for the first functional loss to occur. Rare and restrict species usually hold specialized traits not provided by others (Mouillot et al., 2013; Leitão et al., 2016), which means that if these species are extinct first, the community would rapidly lose unique traits, becoming less functionally distinct. On the other hand, when widespread/abundant species are extinct first, the pattern should be inverted since they hold functional traits usually redundant to other species (Leitão et al., 2016; Violle et al., 2017).

#### Methods

#### Field sampling

The fish sampling was conducted in 40 rainforest streams from first to third order in the Capim River basin, eastern Amazon, from 2012 to 2015 (Figure 1). The region is characterized by a dense ombrophilous forest with a warm-humid tropical clime and one rainy period from December to May and a dry period from June to November (Albuquerque *et al.*, 2010). The average annual temperature reaches 26°C and an annual rainfall of 2,344 mm<sup>3</sup>, with a maximum of 427 mm<sup>3</sup> in May and a minimum of 54 mm<sup>3</sup> in September (Albuquerque et al., 2010). The region is historically influenced by intense deforestation due to land use conversion, but some areas still comprise pristine rainforests within their area, where the streams were sampled (Figure 1). The sampled streams are characterized by low thalweg depth, high variation in incision height, a heterogeneous substrate (composed mainly of particles of <16 mm, such as sand, silt, mud, clay, and organic matter), and a large number of microhabitats, represented by wood fragments, roots, undercut banks and coarse litter (Benone et al., 2017). The streams were collected in the dry period when discharge is low and sampling efficiency is high, and also to avoid seasonal variation among samples (Prudente et al., 2017). We never sampled the same stream twice or more, and all streams were selected based on their accessibility. A minimum fluvial distance of 2 km between samples was used to avoid pseudoreplication. To ensure that our data was not spatially autocorrelated, we conducted a Moran's I to test if functional and taxonomic rarity were spatially structured (Moran, 1950). We concluded that there was no spatial autocorrelation among the sampled streams regarding their species composition, functional rarity, and taxonomic rarity, so we maintained all sampled sites in the following analysis (see Appendix S1).



Figure 1. Geographical location of the 40 sampled streams and land use characterization in Capim river basin, eastern Amazon.

The fish were collected through active search using two circular 55-cm-diameter dip nets with 2mm mesh in a 150 m stretch of each stream subdivided in 10 subsections (Montag *et al.*, 2019). Each subsection of the stream was sampled during 18 min, totalling a sampling efforts of three hours per stream. This method assures the sampling of the majority of microhabitats where fish live in streams, and it is a useful method considering the high heterogeneity of Amazonian stream habitat (Uieda & Castro, 1999). The fish sampled were euthanized through lethal doses of Eugenol anaesthetic and then fixed in formalin at 10% concentration for 72 hours. After, the fish were finally conserved in alcohol at 70% concentration for further taxonomic identification to the lowest taxonomic level possible using fish taxonomic literature (Albert, 2001; Reis, Kullander & Ferraris, 2003; Van der Sleen & Albert, 2018). The collecting method was approved by the Animal Ethics Committee (CEUA) under protocol number 8293020418 (UFPA).

#### Functional characterization

We assigned one functional trait related to the diet of the fish based on gut content and literature search. We choose this functional trait since it informs the relationships between species and the ecosystem processes that they maintain. The diet functional trait was selected due to its capacity to predict the *effects* of functional extinction in ecosystem functioning instead of identifying the community's response to environmental changes (Violle *et al.*, 2007). The possible effects of the extinction of each functional category to the ecosystem and community dynamics are described in Appendix S1 – Table B1. The trait was divided into seven functional categories: (1) Autochthonous invertivore (feed on adult forms of aquatic invertebrates); (2) allochthonous invertivore (feed on adult forms of terrestrial invertebrates); (3) piscivore (feed on other fish); (4) algivore (feed on algae); (5) larvivorous (feed on the larvae state of aquatic and some terrestrial organisms); (6) detritivore (feed on the organic matter in the bottom of stream); and (7) hematophagous (feed on blood). The extinction of categories of diet can bring cascade effects to other species and the ecosystem (Table 1).

Table 1. Diet functional trait, its respective categories (functions), and why they are important in ecosystem functioning and community dynamics. Information from the "Why is this function important?" and its references support the post-extinction scenario of functions in Fig. 5.

Functional effect trait	Categories	Why is this function important?
DIET	Autochthonous invertivore	These are fish who feed on adult aquatic invertebrates. When autochthonous invertivore fish are present in the stream, they control the population of grazing invertebrates, thus lowering the predation pressure on periphytic algae (Hargrave <i>et al.</i> , 2006). This top-down control allows higher algae biomass and higher primary production in the ecosystem (Hargrave, 2006). Beyond, Hargrave <i>et al.</i> (2006) indicates that when autochthonous invertivore fish decreases the density of grazing invertebrates, it leads to lower competition among grazer species, allowing for higher growth of grazer fish.
	Allochthonous invertivore	These are fish who feed on adult terrestrial invertebrates. They actively translocate nutrients between terrestrial and aquatic ecosystems, providing "new" nutrients in the stream (Vanni, 2002). This enhanced nutrient input allows for higher primary productivity, thus more complex trophic interactions and higher densities of consumers (Hargrave, 2006). In this view, ecosystems where this function is played by fish usually present higher primary and secondary productivity (Nakano & Murakami, 2001).
	Piscivore	These fish directly control the population of its prey. Experimental studies have previously related cascade trophic effects of these predatory fish on invertivores fish biomass and growth (Gilliam, Fraser & Alkins-Koo, 1993; Greenberg, Dahl & Bergman, 2005; Lovell <i>et al.</i> , 2017). Gilliam <i>et al.</i> (1993) evidenced that the presence of the piscivore <i>Hoplias malabaricus</i> led to lower biomass of a preyed invertivorous fish in tropical streams, which only presented small individuals in sites where the predator was present.
	Algivore	These are fish who feed on phytoplankton or periphytic algae. They control the algae population in streams, allowing the coexistence between species and higher diversity of algae (Power, Stewart & Matthews, 1988; Flecker, 1996). When algivore fish are present, the biomass of diatoms tends to decrease while the biomass of nitrogen-fixing cyanobacteria increases, as these cyanobacteria are facilitated by algivores (Power <i>et al.</i> , 1988; Flecker, 1996). The extinction of this functional category can trigger a eutrophication process in the stream if environmental conditions are already degraded, creating a hypoxic system with low visibility and water quality due to algae overgrowth (Flecker et al., 2002).

Detritivore	These are fish who explore the organic matter accumulated in the stream bottom. They assure the nutrient cycling in the ecosystem, releasing the organic carbon locked in the organic matter in the ecosystem to be used by other organisms in the trophic web (Flecker, 1996; Taylor <i>et al.</i> , 2006). Beyond interfering in its stream, detritivore species also ensure the release of organic carbon downstream, as the nutrient is carried by streamflow (Taylor <i>et al.</i> , 2006).
Larvivorous	These fish control the population of its larvae prey, influencing the adult population densities of these organisms (Wesner, 2010). Experimental studies have shown that the effects that larvivorous fish may have in the community cross boundaries of ecosystems, for example, fish who feed on Dragonfly and Mosquito aquatic larvae decreases the population of the insects in the adult phase, at the terrestrial habitat (Chandra <i>et al.</i> , 2008; Wesner, 2010). Larvivorous fish are effectively at controlling the biomass of Mosquitos that are vectors of human diseases, such as malaria and dengue fever, common diseases in the tropics (Chandra <i>et al.</i> , 2008; De Góes Cavalcanti <i>et al.</i> , 2009).
Hematophagous	These fish feed on the blood of other fish, making an incision on the gills arteries and engorging themselves in the blood (Zuanon & Sazima, 2004). They can kill its host (although it is rare) but mainly makes its host more vulnerable to diseases and infections due to the open incision they left in the host's blood system (Spotte, 2002; Zuanon & Sazima, 2004). As hematophagous weakens its host and indirectly leads to its death is an important function itself, as it contributes to nutrient cycling by leaving its host body to be decomposed. Beyond, the death of the host reduces intraspecific competition among its host in the stream, allowing the coexistence of multiple species. The species in our study ( <i>Paracanthopoma</i> sp.) uses its host to migrate between water bodies, in this way, this hematophagous contributes to the input of "new" translocate nutrients between streams and rivers trough excretion (Zuanon & Sazima, 2005).

We analysed the ichthyofauna's digestive tract to assign the diet functional trait to species. First, six individuals of each species were selected haphazardly, except for species with fewer individuals, with similar body sizes, to avoid ontogenetic influence on the species' diet. Food items were identified to the lowest taxonomic level possible, under an optical microscope, using specialized literature (Mugnai, Nessimian & Baptista, 2010; Hamada, Nessimian & Querino, 2014) and with the help of specialists from different taxonomic groups. The percentage of dominance that each food item occupied in each individual's digestive tract's total volume was quantified by visual estimate (Hyslop, 1980). To accurately

assign diet, we combined digestive tract analysis with diet information previously published in the literature for the sampled species (see Appendix S1 for a detailed list of the studies we used to assign the diet functional trait). When studies used an alimentary index to inform species diet, we corrected the index scale to a scale ranging from 0 to 100. We then summed the index with the percentage of the dominance of food items found in the species' digestive tract. Otherwise, when studies categorized the species' diet, we summed a value of 100 for each diet category cited for the species. We did not take into account studies that classified species only as omnivorous, with no further details. After, we transformed our diet data into a fuzzy-type matrix that measures the proportions of each diet category to each species (Pavoine *et al.*, 2009). The diet trait is a fuzzy-type trait, so we are not categorizing species into each functional category but instead assigning values of proportions of each category to each species. This way, a single species can contribute in different strengths to two or more functional categories. This plasticity in the diet of some stream fish can give insights about the role of redundancy in the stability of stream ecosystem (Sanders *et al.*, 2018).

#### Species' rarity

We determined taxonomic and functional rarity at two different scales: (1) local, considering each community in each stream; and (2) regional, considering all the species in the whole basin (all streams. To measure taxonomic rarity, we used a local scarcity index (*Sc*), which is basically the inverse of species' relative abundance, but it ranges from 0 to 1 and has a pivotal value of 0.5 for species with a relative abundance corresponding to I/N, as *N* is the number of species in the community (Violle *et al.*, 2017). When the relative abundance of species *i* (*Ab<sub>i</sub>*) is higher than its expectation under a perfect evenly distribution of abundance among species (>I/N) the species tends to be dominant, thus have lower values of scarcity. Otherwise, species are scarcer when its relative abundance is lower than I/N. Thus, scarcity (*Sc<sub>i</sub>*) may be express as:

$$Sc_i = \exp[-N \times \ln(2) \times Ab_i]$$

We also measured species' regional restrictiveness (R; Violle *et al.*, 2017), considering species' occurrences in the 40 streams sampled as a measure of geographical extent.  $R_i$  is then expressed as 1 minus the geographical extent (Ge) of species *i* in comparison to the maximum geographical extent (most widespread species;  $Ge_{max}$ ). In this way, species with higher values of R have a restricted distribution, while species with lower values are widespread across the region. Thus, regional restrictiveness ( $R_i$ ) is:

$$R_i = 1 - \frac{Ge_i}{Ge_{max}}$$

To measure functional rarity, we used a local distinctiveness index (D) weighted by species' relative abundance, which measures how distinct the species' functional traits are in comparison to all the other species in the same stream. (Violle *et al.*, 2017). Thus, functional distinctiveness (D) is the mean functional distance of species *i* to species *j*  $(d_{ij})$  among N other species weighted by its relative abundance (Ab), in this way, a species is even more distinct if it does not share its traits with the most abundant species in the community:

$$D_i = \frac{\sum_{j=1,j=i}^N d_{ij} \times Ab_j}{\sum_{j=1,j=i}^N Ab_j}$$

Regionally, we measured species' functional uniqueness (U), which reflects the functional distance of species i to species j ( $d_{ij}$ ), in which species j is the most functionally similar neighbour of species i in the functional space occupied by all species sampled in the region (Violle *et al.*, 2017). In this way,  $U_i$  is high when species i has a unique combination of traits compared to other species within the region, mainly if the functional distance of species i to its closest neighbour is high. Thus, species' restrictiveness (U) is:

$$U_i = \min(d_{ij}) j = i *$$

To calculate the functional rarity indexes, we converted our fuzzy trait matrix to a Gower's distance matrix between species (Pavoine *et al.*, 2009; Grenié *et al.*, 2017). Higher values in Gower's distance represent high differences between pairs of species concerning their functional traits (Pavoine *et al.*, 2009). All the indexes range from 0 to 1, with values closer to 1 representing more scarce, restricted, functionally distinct or unique species (Violle *et al.*, 2017).

#### Extinction scenarios and data analysis

To assess species extinction's consequences on the functional rarity indexes and the number of functional categories in the community at local and regional scales, we conducted two extinction scenarios. In the first scenario, we ranked species in a decreasing order of Sc or R and removed scarce or restrict species first, considered the most realistic pattern for the ongoing sixth mass extinction event (Giam et al., 2011; Burkhead, 2012; Pimm et al., 2014). In the second scenario, we ranked species in an increasing order of Sc or R and removed abundant or widespread species first. This scenario has been described as an unrealistic scenario of extinction (Leitão et al., 2016). However, there is evidence that abundant/widespread species were also extirpated in previous mass extinction events, triggering cascade extinctions on dependent species (Mouillot et al., 2013). We assigned different weights to species by replicating their distinctiveness and traits based on their local abundance and regional occurrence, in this way, abundant and widespread species overcontributes to the functional rarity and it adds redundancy to the traits supported these species (Grime, 1998). Then, we extinguishing individuals at a local scale and populations at a regional scale, instead of species. The average functional rarity (distinctiveness and uniqueness) and the number of remaining functional categories were then calculated for the community after the extinction of each individual/population (Leitão et al., 2016). Then, we defined nine levels (from 10 to 90%) of individuals extinction and extracted the mean functional rarity and number of remaining functional categories from each stream at each extinction level. We conducted null models locally, for

each stream, and regionally, for all the streams, to compare with the pattern found in the other extinction scenarios. In the null models, the values of taxonomic rarity (and thus, the order of individuals/populations removal) were shuffled randomly 1000 times while maintaining functional rarity and functional trait values of each individual (Leitão *et al.*, 2016).

Locally, we defined nine levels of extinction, from 10% to 90% of extinction. Then, we computed the average functional rarity and the average number of functional categories for each stream in each extinction level. To identify differences between of the scenarios (scarcest extinct first; most abundant extinct first; and random extinction) at each of the nine extinction levels, we used a non-parametric Friedman-paired test and post-hoc pairwise comparisons (Leitão *et al.*, 2016). Regionally, we computed the confidence interval where 95% of data generated by the null model was confined. Then, we compared this interval with the pattern of functional uniqueness and functional categories loss found in the other two extinction scenarios (most restrict extinct first, and most widespread extinct first). In this way, if the pattern found in the other two extinction scenarios fell out of this confidence interval, we considered the pattern different from the random expectation (Leitão *et al.*, 2016).

All data was analysed in R software (R Core Team, 2020) using the packages vegan (Oksanen, 2019), funrar (Grenié *et al.*, 2017), dplyr (Wickham *et al.*, 2020), ade4 (Dray & Dufour, 2007) and PMCMR (Pohlert, 2014). An R Code with the steps to conduct the analysis is provided in author's account at GitHub (Colares, 2021).

#### Results

We sampled 14,599 individuals belonging to 57 species, 20 families, and six orders (Appendix S1 – Table D1) in the 40 pristine streams from the Capim basin. The most abundant families were Characidae

and Cichlidae (2,138 individuals), (6.899 individuals) and the most abundant species were *Hyphessobrycon* heterorhabdus (Ulrey, 1894) (6.609 individuals) and Apistogramma regani Kullander, 1980 (1520, individuals), which together accounted for more than 50% of the total abundance registered in the study. most widespread The species were *Hyphessobrycon* heterorhabdus (Ulrey, 1894) and Helogenes marmoratus Günther, 1863, which both occurred in 39 of the sampled streams. Fourteen species had a local abundance of 3 or less and 13 species occurred in only one stream across the region (Appendix S1 – Table D1). The most redundant functional categories of the diet functional trait were Allochthonous and Autochthonous Invertivores and the Larvivorous category, while the less redundant were Hematophagous, Detritivores, Algivores and Piscivores (Appendix S1 – Figure D1). Local indexes of taxonomic scarcity and functional distinctiveness varied from 0.99 to 0.0002 (mean  $\pm$  SD = 0.67  $\pm$  0.30) and from 1 to 0.06 (0.47  $\pm$  0.08), respectively (Appendix S1 – Table D1). Regional indexes of taxonomic restrictiveness and functional uniqueness varied from 0.97 to 0.025 (0.40  $\pm$  0.32) and from 0 to 0.77 (0.12  $\pm$  0.16), respectively (Appendix S1 – Table D1).

The simulations to evaluate the effects of extinction on the functional rarity of the community revealed a clear pattern locally: when scarce species were extinct first, the functional distinctiveness of the community decreased, while when abundant species were extinct first, the distinctiveness of the community increased (Fig. 2A). The community's distinctiveness was always different between the extinction scenarios, except for the comparison between the scenarios of scarce species extinction and the random at 10% and 20% of extinction (Fig. 2A). Regionally, the pattern indicated that, when widespread species were extinct first, the functional uniqueness increases above the random expectation (Fig. 2B). On the other hand, when restrict species were extinct first, the uniqueness decreased below the random expectation, but only after 55% populations being extinct (Fig. 2B).



Figure 2. A plot of the mean functional rarity as (A) distinctiveness, at a local scale, and as (B) uniqueness, at a regional scale along with the extinction of individuals/populations in the three extinction scenarios (random extinction, scarce/restrict species extinct first, and abundant/widespread species extinct first). Shapes in the middle are mean values of distinctiveness, and spreads are its 95% confidence intervals. Letters above spreads represent statistically significant differences between the extinction scenarios in each step of extinction at a local scale as returned by the pairwise comparison of the Friedman's tests so that if two scenarios share a letter, they are not different from each other. Scenarios without a letter above spreads indicate statistically significant differences among all three scenarios. (except for 0% of extinct individuals). The grey cloud around the regional random extinction scenario represents confidence intervals as returned by the null model.

The consequences of extinction in the number of functional categories in the community were also evident locally. When scarce species were extinct first, the community lost its first functional category after 5% of extinct individuals and suffered an abrupt loss of four functional categories before the extinction of 50% of individuals (Fig. 4A). The first functional categories lost when scarce species were extinct first were detritivores (in 37.5% of the streams), piscivores (in 32.5% of the streams), algivores (20% of the streams), and hematophagous (10% of the streams) (Fig. 3). While when abundant species

were extinct first, the community lost its first functional category only after 90% of extinct individuals (Fig. 4A). The first lost functional categories in this scenario were piscivores (in 40% of the streams), algivores (in 28% of the streams), allochthonous invertivores (in 12% of the streams), hematophagous (in 10%), detritivores (in 8%) and larvivorous (in 2%) (Fig. 3). The number of functional categories in the community was always different between the three scenarios at all extinction levels.



Figure 3. Graphical representation of the first functional categories lost in each of the 40 sampled streams (as percentage of streams in where the functional category was lost first) in both scenarios of non-random extinction (scarce and abundant species extinction). InvA = Autochthonous Invertivore, InvT = Allochthonous Invertivore, Pis = Piscivore, Hemato = Hematophagous, Alg = Algivore, Det = Detritivore, and Larv = Larvivore.

Regionally, when restrict species were extinct first, the loss of functional categories starts near 15% of extinct populations (Fig. 4B), when detritivore fish are lost, followed by a subsequential loss of the hematophagous functional category (Fig. 4B). Posteriorly, the functional categories of algivores, piscivores and autochthonous invertivores are extinct, respectively (Fig. 4B). After 15% of extinction, the pattern of restrict species extinct first was always below the random expectation. On the other hand, the widespread species extinction pattern was never different from the random expectation (Fig. 4B). The first lost functional category in the widespread species extinction scenario was hematophagous (Fig. 4B).



Figure 4. A plot of the number of functional categories after individuals' extinction at (A) local and (B) regional scale in the three extinction scenarios. In the local scale (A), shapes in the middle are median values of the number of functional categories, and vertical bars are 95% confidence intervals. In the regional scale (B), the grey cloud around the random extinction scenario represents confidence intervals of the null model. Grey fish is piscivore, brown is detritivores, green is algivore, reds are hematophagous, and yellow is autochthonous invertivore.

#### Discussion

Our study evidenced a high contribution of scarce and restrict species in providing distinct and unique functional traits to the ecosystem and community dynamics, corroborating all our hypotheses. Even though functional categories differed in extinction risk, if any of them is extirpated, then cascade effects will occur in the ecosystem through the relationships between the species in the community. The abundance of species that depends on these specific functions may then change, as well as the input of resources such as nutrients in the stream (Hargrave, 2006; Gelwick & Mcintyre, 2017; Reis, Albrecht & Bunn, 2020). Nonetheless, linkages between most species sampled in our study and ecosystem functioning are still not experimentally demonstrated. However, some studies have shown that other tropical stream fish species, which support the same functional categories than the species of our study, have direct and indirect effects on ecosystem functioning (Gilliam *et al.*, 1993; Flecker, 1996; Flecker *et al.*, 2002; Reis *et al.*, 2020).

Some studies have focused on the relationship between rarity and functional loss using indexes (Blackburn *et al.*, 2005; Mouillot *et al.*, 2013; Leitão *et al.*, 2016), such as functional richness or originality, as a proxy for the functional aspects of biological communities (Leitão *et al.*, 2016; Mouillot *et al.*, 2013). Similarly, our study evaluated how the indexes of functional distinctiveness and uniqueness would respond to species extinction in scenarios driven by taxonomic rarity. We found that in both local and regional scales, when scarce and restricted species were extinct first, the community's average distinctiveness tends to decrease as extinction increases. In this way, species with low abundance and restricted geographical distribution overcontribute to the community's functional distinctiveness and uniqueness, providing the most distinct and unique functional traits (Mouillot *et al.*, 2013). In this way, when these species are extinct, the distinctiveness and uniqueness of the community decreases since only abundant and widespread species are left. Otherwise, when species with a high abundance and widespread

distribution were extinct first, the community's distinctiveness and uniqueness increased, implying that these species support redundant traits among them. Once abundant species are extinct, only scarce species remain in the habitat, what increases the average functional rarity in the community. Mouillot *et al.* (2013) and Leitão *et al.* (2016) also found a similar pattern as our study for tropical reef and stream fish, trees, and birds, the first using functional distinctiveness and the latter using functional originality, evidencing that rare species often play the most distinct roles in ecosystem functioning.

Regarding the patterns of functional categories loss, when scarce and restrict species were extinct first, the first category was already lost at the begging of the extinction. Human impacts in natural habitats target mainly rare species, most likely to disappear first in the ongoing sixth mass extinction crisis (Pimm et al., 2014). Especially in Amazon, the current land-use expansion is likely to threaten rare species, leading to their local extinctions (Dopheide et al., 2020; Sykes et al., 2020). In most streams, the first functional category lost was detritivores, represented mainly by Siluriformes species such as Callichthys callichthys, Megalechis thoracata, and Rineloricaria sp. If these species are extinct, then we can expect a disruption in nutrient cycling in the stream, as evidenced by Flecker (1996) and Taylor et al. (2006) which experimentally showed that after removal of detritivore fish in tropical streams, the downstream transport of organic carbon decreased, while primary production increased (Fig. 5A). This happens because detritivore fish explore the organic matter in the streams, breaking these particles into smaller ones that will be broke by other detritivores in the stream (Taylor et al., 2006). Nevertheless, detritivore fish revolve the substrate of the stream when it is scrapping in stream bottom, releasing particles otherwise locked into the water column (Taylor et al., 2006). It is worth mentioning that, under an extinction scenario triggered by land-use conversion, detritivores may actually benefit from the new environmental conditions of modified streams, since organic matter deposition and algae density are higher than in natural streams (Casatti et al., 2012). This high accumulation of organic matter and algae are resources explored by

detritivore fish, which often play a role as detritivore-algivore in streams, thus, these conditions will benefit the persistence of some detritivore species (Casatti et al., 2012). Piscivores were also at significant risk of extinction, represented mainly by Characiformes from the Erythrinidae family (Erythrinus Siluriformes erythrinus and Hoplias malabaricus), and such as Batrochoglanis raninus, Pimelodella sp., Rhamdia muelleri, and Tetranematichthys wallacei. If these fish are extinct, then trophic cascade events may happen in the community due to increases of fishes that will experience a lower predation pressure, such as invertivore fish (Gilliam et al., 1993; Greenberg et al., 2005; Lovell et al., 2017). As the biomass of invertivore fish increases, the predation pressure on invertebrates increases, leading to a lower density of grazing invertebrates, which, in turn, can lead to an overgrowth of algae in the stream (Fig. 5A), as Greenberg et al. (2005) experimentally showed for temperate regions. If the environment of a stream is already depleted, then this algae overgrowth could lead to stream eutrophication (Flecker et al., 2002), but this effect is yet to be tested for neotropical streams.

Although we have shown that rare species are at higher risk of extinction and support the most distinct and unique functional traits in the ecosystem, the real impacts of these rare species on ecosystem functioning are still debatable. The "mass ratio hypothesis" postulates that, even though rare species can provide distinct functional traits to ecosystem functioning, their relative importance compared to dominant species are irrelevant (Grime, 1998). Given that rare species often present low abundance and restrict distribution, they might not provide significant contributions to ecosystem functioning when compared to dominant species. Even though we theoretically accounted for the mass ratio hypothesis in our study (as our extinction models extirpate individuals, not species, thus, dominant species overcontributes to ecosystem functioning), we did not directly measure the effects of the species or individuals in the functioning of the stream ecosystem (i.e., direct measures of nutrient released by fish, or direct measurement of predation). Nevertheless, our results concerning the higher extinction risk and functional

rarity of scarce and restrict species should not be discarded as it indicates abrupt functional losses that are undeniably linked with ecosystem functioning and community dynamics (Gilliam *et al.*, 1993; Flecker *et al.*, 2002; Taylor *et al.*, 2006; see Table 1 for further information about the effects of each functional category on stream ecosystem). Indeed, several studies have reported that, even though rare species present low abundance and restrict distribution, they still can make significant contributions to the ecosystem, assuring long-term functioning (Lyons *et al.*, 2005; Mouillot *et al.*, 2013). For example, under fluctuations of abundant phytoplankton species over time due to salinity stress, rare species' compensatory growth sustains primary production in a New Zealand lake (Flöder *et al.*, 2010).

In contrast, when locally abundant species were extinct first, functional loss only started after >70% of extinct species. This evidences that these locally abundant species are more resistant to functional loss, given that they occur in high abundance and share their functional traits with many others in the community (Violle et al., 2017). This high redundancy and number of individuals should prevent the extinction of the traits that abundant species provide, ensuring ecosystem functioning and resilience (Purahong et al., 2018; Dopheide et al., 2020). Piscivores and algivores were especially vulnerable to extinction when abundant species were extirpated. The indirect trophic control played by piscivore fish in streams assures an ecosystem with controlled algae density, avoiding eutrophication (Greenberg et al., 2005). Thus, the usage of these fish in biomanipulation programs may help restore eutrophic waters, controlling invertivores fish' biomass, which may increase grazing invertebrates' density, leading to a decrease in the biomass of algae (Greenberg et al., 2005; Lovell et al., 2017). However, this initiative is yet to be tested for tropical streams, even though it has been useful for the restoration of tropical lakes (Jeppesen et al., 2007; Mazzeo et al., 2010). Moreover, the extirpation of algivorous fish (represented by Farwoella amazonum, Nannostomus trifasciatus, and Aequidens tetramerus in this study) should culminate in increases of algae's density (Fig. 5C), further leading to eutrophication through direct extinction of grazing fish as experimentally showed by Flecker *et al.* (2002). Algivore fish also facilitates increases in biomass of nitrogen-fixing cyanobacteria in streams (Power *et al.*, 1988; Flecker, 1996). These fish control diatom algae's biomass, allowing higher biomass of nitrogen-fixing cyanobacteria, which are worse competitors than diatoms (Flecker, 1996). These cyanobacteria fix more atmospheric N when algivore fish are present in the stream, contributing to the input of new nutrients into the aquatic ecosystem (Power *et al.*, 1988; Flecker, 1996).

Regionally, one of the functional categories most vulnerable to extinction was detritivores. Beyond being locally vulnerable, this functional category was also regionally vulnerable when restrict species were extinct first (Fig. 5B). Detritivores contribute to nutrient cycling in the basin and assure downstream transportation of organic carbon. Beyond, they may also overcontribute to nutrient release (of nitrogen and phosphorus) compared to non-detritivores, a fact that reassures the importance of detritivores fish to ecosystem functioning and community dynamics (Sereda, Hudson & McLoughlin, 2008). However, further investigation about the rates of nutrient release by the species found in our study is needed to corroborate such overcontribution in detritivores' nutrient release for Amazonian streams. Another functional category at significant extinction risk is hematophagous, which influences community dynamics by controlling its host population (Fig. 5BD). Specifically, *Paracanthopoma* sp. makes an incision in its host's gills, engorging itself in blood, leaving its host susceptive to diseases and infections, indirectly leading to its death (Spotte, 2002; Zuanon & Sazima, 2005).


Figure 5. Graphical representation of the most vulnerable functional categories in each extinction scenario (represented by the "EXTINCT" fish on the top of A, B, C, and D) and conceptual model of stream ecosystem pre-extinction (on the top) and possible post-extinction scenarios (in the bottom; A, B, C, and D). Pre-extinction (on the top), all functional categories are present in the ecosystem and, once extinction happens (red arrow), the ecosystem functioning changes (in the bottom) due to the extinction of the vulnerable functional categories. The functional categories change regarding its extinction risk depending on the scale, local (A and C) or regional (B and D), and the scenario of extinction, most (A and B) or less rare (C and D) extinct first, with different changes for ecosystem functioning in each of the four possibilities (A, B, C, and D). Grey fish are piscivore, browns are detritivores, vibrant greens are algivores, opaque greens are allochthonous invertivores, reds are hematophagous, and yellows are autochthonous invertivore. Proportions have a ludic purpose only and do not always represent reality.

With these predictions, we may assume that if species' extirpation in the ongoing sixth mass extinction follows the already described pattern of rare (scarce or restrict) species being extinct first, we can expect that Amazonian streams will suffer a rapid functional extinction. Presumably with the establishment of eutrophic ecosystems due to algae overgrowth, a consequence of piscivores and algivores extinction. We may also expect higher intra and inter-specific competition among host species of hematophagous due to parasite extinction. Also, large amounts of organic matter will probably accumulate in the stream bottom, with no release of organic carbon (thus, no downstream transport) due to the extinction of detritivore fish. Throughout this study, we highlight that extinction scenarios driven by taxonomic rarity can predict different functional extinction patterns for fish in Amazonian streams. Thus, our theoretical and analytical approach should be a useful tool for other biological communities.

## References

Albert J.S. (2001). Species diversity and phylogenetic systematics of American knifefishes (*Gymnotiformes, Teleostei*), 1st edn. Ann Arbor: Miscellaneous Publications, Michigan.

Albuquerque M.F., Souza E.B., Oliveira M. do C.F. & Souza Júnior J.A. (2010). Precipitação nas mesorregiões do Estado do Pará: climatologia, variabilidade e tendências nas últimas décadas (1978-2008). *Revista Brasileira de Climatologia* **6**, 151–168

Atkinson C.L., Alexiades A. V., MacNeill K.L., Encalada A.C., Thomas S.A. & Flecker A.S. (2019).
Nutrient recycling by insect and fish communities in high-elevation tropical streams. *Hydrobiologia*838, 13–28. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10750-019-03973-9

Azevedo-Santos V.M., Frederico R.G., Fagundes C.K., Pompeu P.S., Pelicice F.M., Padial A.A., *et al.* (2019). Protected areas: A focus on Brazilian freshwater biodiversity. *Diversity and Distributions* **25**, 442–448. https://doi.org/10.1111/ddi.12871

Ballinger A. & Lake P.S. (2006). Energy and nutrient fluxes from rivers and streams into terrestrial food webs. *Marine and Freshwater Research* **57**, 15–28. https://doi.org/10.1071/MF05154

Barnosky A.D., Matzke N., Tomiya S., Wogan G.O.U., Swartz B., Quental T.B., *et al.* (2011). Has the Earth's sixth mass extinction already arrived? *Nature* **471**, 51–57. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature09678

Benone N.L., Esposito M.C., Juen L., Pompeu P.S. & Montag L.F.A. (2017). Regional Controls on Physical Habitat Structure of Amazon Streams. *River Research and Applications* **33**, 766–776. https://doi.org/10.1002/rra.3137

Blackburn T.M., Petchey O.L., Cassey P. & Gaston K.J. (2005). Functional diversity of mammalian predators and extinction in island birds. *Ecology* **86**, 2916–2923. https://doi.org/10.1890/04-1847

Burkhead N.M. (2012). Extinction Rates in North American Freshwater Fishes, 1900–2010. *BioScience* 62, 798–808. https://doi.org/10.1525/bio.2012.62.9.5

Cadotte M.W., Carscadden K. & Mirotchnick N. (2011). Beyond species: Functional diversity and the maintenance of ecological processes and services. *Journal of Applied Ecology* **48**, 1079–1087. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2664.2011.02048.x

Casatti L., Teresa F.B., Gonçalves-Souza T., Bessa E., Manzotti A.R., Gonçalves C. da S., *et al.* (2012). From forests to cattail: How does the riparian zone influence stream fish? *Neotropical Ichthyology* **10**, 205–214. https://doi.org/10.1590/S1679-62252012000100020

Chandra G., Bhattacharjee I., Chatterjee S.N. & Ghosh A. (2008). Mosquito control by larvivorous fish. *Indian Journal of Medical Research* **127**, 13–27

Colares L. (2021). An R code to track functional extinction. *GitHub*. Available at: https://github.com/lucas-colares/functional-extinction

Collen B., Ram M., Zamin T. & McRae L. (2008). The Tropical Biodiversity Data Gap: Addressing Disparity in Global Monitoring. *Tropical Conservation Science* **1**, 75–88. https://doi.org/10.1177/194008290800100202

Crespo-Pérez V., Kazakou E., Roubik D.W. & Cárdenas R.E. (2020). The importance of insects on land and in water: a tropical view. *Current opinion in insect science* **40**, 31–38. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cois.2020.05.016

Datta S. & Jana B.B. (1998). Control of bloom in a tropical lake: Grazing efficiency of some herbivorous fishes. *Journal of Fish Biology* **53**, 12–24. https://doi.org/10.1006/jfbi.1998.0673

Davidson E.A., De Araüjo A.C., Artaxo P., Balch J.K., Brown I.F., Mercedes M.M., et al. (2012). The

Amazon basin in transition. Nature 481, 321–328. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature10717

Dee L.E., Cowles J., Isbell F., Pau S., Gaines S.D. & Reich P.B. (2019). When Do Ecosystem Services Depend on Rare Species? *Trends in Ecology and Evolution* **34**, 746–758. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2019.03.010

Delord J. (2007). The nature of extinction. *Studies in History and Philosophy of Science Part C : Studies in History and Philosophy of Biological and Biomedical Sciences* **38**, 656–667. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.shpsc.2007.06.004

Dirzo R., Young H.S., Galetti M., Ceballos G., Isaac N.J.B. & Collen B. (2014). Defaunation in the Anthropocene. *Science* **345**, 401–406. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1251817

Dopheide A., Makiola A., Orwin K.H., Holdaway R.J., Wood J.R. & Dickie I.A. (2020). Rarity is a more reliable indicator of land-use impacts on soil invertebrate communities than other diversity metrics. *eLife* **9**, 1–41. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.52787

Dray S. & Dufour A.B. (2007). The ade4 package: Implementing the duality diagram for ecologists. *Journal of Statistical Software* **22**, 1–20. https://doi.org/10.18637/jss.v022.i04

Flecker A.S. (1996). Ecosystem Engineering by a Dominant Detritivore in a Diverse Tropical Stream. *Ecology* **77**, 1845–1854. https://doi.org/10.2307/2265788

Flecker A.S., Taylor B.W., Bernhardt E.S., Hood J.M., Cornwell W.K., Cassatt S.R., *et al.* (2002).
Interactions between herbivorous fishes and limiting nutrients in a tropical stream ecosystem. *Ecology* 83, 1831–1844. https://doi.org/10.1890/0012-9658(2002)083[1831:IBHFAL]2.0.CO;2

Flöder S., Jaschinski S., Wells G. & Burns C.W. (2010). Dominance and compensatory growth in phytoplankton communities under salinity stress. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology* 

**395**, 223–231. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jembe.2010.09.006

Frederico R.G., Zuanon J. & De Marco P. (2018). Amazon protected areas and its ability to protect stream-dwelling fish fauna. *Biological Conservation* **219**, 12–19.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2017.12.032

Gelwick F.P. & Mcintyre P.B. (2017). Trophic Relations of Stream Fishes. Elsevier Inc.

Giam X., Ng T.H., Lok A.F.S.L. & Ng H.H. (2011). Local geographic range predicts freshwater fish extinctions in Singapore. 356–363. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2664.2010.01953.x

Gilliam J.F., Fraser D.F. & Alkins-Koo M. (1993). Structure of a Tropical Stream Fish Community: A Role for Biotic Interactions. *Ecology* **74**, 1856–1870. https://doi.org/10.2307/1939943

De Góes Cavalcanti L.P., De Paula F.J., Pontes R.J.S., Heukelbach J. & De Oliveira Lima J.W. (2009). Survival of larvivorous fish used for biological control of Aedes aegypti larvae in domestic containers with different chlorine concentrations. *Journal of Medical Entomology* **46**, 841–844. https://doi.org/10.1603/033.046.0414

Greenberg L., Dahl J. & Bergman E. (2005). Indirect behavioral effects of a piscivore on trophic interactions in stream enclosures. *Archiv fur Hydrobiologie* **164**, 39–51. https://doi.org/10.1127/0003-9136/2005/0164-0039

Grenié M., Denelle P., Tucker C.M., Munoz F. & Violle C. (2017). funrar: An R package to characterize functional rarity. *Diversity and Distributions* **23**, 1365–1371. https://doi.org/10.1111/ddi.12629

Grime J.P. (1998). Benefits of plant diversity to ecosystems: immediate, filter and founder effects. *Journal of Ecology* **86**, 902–910. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2745.1998.00306.x

Guenard B., Weiser M.D. & Dunn R.R. (2012). Global models of ant diversity suggest regions where

new discoveries are most likely are under disproportionate deforestation threat. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **109**, 7368–7373. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1113867109

Hamada N., Nessimian J.L. & Querino R.B. eds (2014). *Insetos aquáticos na Amazônia brasileira: taxonomia, biologia e ecologia*. Editora do Instituto Nacional de Pesquisas da Amazônia, Manaus.

Hargrave C.W. (2006). A test of three alternative pathways for consumer regulation of primary productivity. *Oecologia* **149**, 123–132. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-006-0435-y

Hargrave C.W., Ramirez R., Brooks M., Eggleton M.A., Sutherland K., Deaton R., *et al.* (2006). Indirect food web interactions increase growth of an algivorous stream fish. *Freshwater Biology* **51**, 1901–1910. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2427.2006.01625.x

Harnik P.G., Simpson C. & Payne J.L. (2012). Long-term differences in extinction risk among the seven forms of rarity. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* **279**, 4969–4976. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2012.1902

Heim N.A. & Peters S.E. (2011). Regional environmental breadth predicts geographic range and longevity in fossil marine genera. *PLoS ONE* **6**. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0018946

Hubbell S.P., He F., Condit R., Borda-De-Água L., Kellner J. & Ter Steege H. (2009). How many tree species are there in the Amazon and how many of them will go extinct? *In the Light of Evolution* **2**, 107–126. https://doi.org/10.17226/12501

Hull P.M., Darroch S.A.F. & Erwin D.H. (2015). Rarity in mass extinctions and the future of ecosystems. *Nature* **528**, 345–351

Hyslop E.J. (1980). Stomach contents analysis-a review of methods and their application.

IUCN (1994). *IUCN Red List Categories. Prepared by the IUCN Species Survival Commission*. IUCN, Gland.

Jeppesen E., Meerhoff M., Jacobsen B.A., Hansen R.S., Søndergaard M., Jensen J.P., *et al.* (2007). Restoration of shallow lakes by nutrient control and biomanipulation - The successful strategy varies with lake size and climate. *Hydrobiologia* **581**, 269–285. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10750-006-0507-3

Leitão R.P., Zuanon J., Villéger S., Williams S.E., Baraloto C., Fortune C., *et al.* (2016). Rare species contribute disproportionately to the functional structure of species assemblages. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* **283**. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2016.0084

Lovell J.A., Fletcher D.E., Cooper S.D. & Vaun McArthur J. (2017). Fish predation and macroinvertebrate abundance on snags in low-gradient blackwater streams. *Freshwater Science* **36**, 626–634. https://doi.org/10.1086/693474

Lyons K.G., Brigham C.A., Traut B.H. & Schwartz M.W. (2005). Rare species and ecosystem functioning. *Conservation Biology* **19**, 1019–1024. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1523-1739.2005.00106.x

Malhi Y., Roberts J.T., Betts R.A., Killeen T.J., Li W. & Nobre C.A. (2008). Climate change, deforestation, and the fate of the Amazon. *Science* **319**, 169–172.

https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1146961

Mazzeo N., Iglesias C., Teixeira-de Mello F., Borthagaray A., Fosalba C., Ballabio R., *et al.* (2010). Trophic cascade effects of Hoplias malabaricus (Characiformes, Erythrinidae) in subtropical lakes food webs: A mesocosm approach. *Hydrobiologia* **644**, 325–335. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10750-010-0197-8

Montag L.F.A., Winemiller K.O., Keppeler F.W., Leão H., Benone N.L., Torres N.R., *et al.* (2019). Land cover, riparian zones and instream habitat influence stream fish assemblages in the eastern Amazon. Ecology of Freshwater Fish 28, 317–329. https://doi.org/10.1111/eff.12455

Moran P.A.P. (1950). Notes on Continuous Stochastic Phenomena. *Biometrika* **37**, 17. https://doi.org/10.2307/2332142

Mouillot D., Bellwood D.R., Baraloto C., Chave J., Galzin R., Harmelin-Vivien M., *et al.* (2013). Rare Species Support Vulnerable Functions in High-Diversity Ecosystems. *PLoS Biology* **11**. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.1001569

Mugnai R., Nessimian J.L. & Baptista D.F. (2010). *Manual de identificação de macroinvertebrados Aquáticos do estado do Rio de Janeiro*, 1st edn. Technical Books.

Naeem S. (1998). Species redundancy and ecosystem reliability. *Conservation Biology* **12**, 39–45. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1523-1739.1998.96379.x

Nakano S. & Murakami M. (2001). Reciprocal subsidies: Dynamic interdependence between terrestrial and aquatic food webs. *Pnas* **98**, 166–170

Oksanen J. (2019). Vegan : ecological diversity

Pavoine S., Vallet J., Dufour A.-B., Gachet S. & Daniel H. (2009). On the challenge of treating various types of variables: application for improving the measurement of functional diversity. *Oikos* **118**, 391–402. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0706.2009.16668.x

Pimm S.L., Jenkins C.N., Abell R., Brooks T.M., Gittleman J.L., Joppa L.N., *et al.* (2014). The biodiversity of species and their rates of extinction, distribution, and protection. *Science* **344**. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1246752

Pires M.M., Guimarães P.R., Galetti M. & Jordano P. (2018). Pleistocene megafaunal extinctions and the functional loss of long-distance seed-dispersal services. *Ecography* **41**, 153–163.

44

https://doi.org/10.1111/ecog.03163

Pohlert T. (2014). The Pairwise Multiple Comparison of Mean Ranks Package (PMCMR)

Power M.E., Stewart A.J. & Matthews W.J. (1988). Grazer Control of Algae in an Ozark Mountain Stream: Effects of Short-Term Exclusion. *Ecology* **69**, 1894–1898. https://doi.org/10.2307/1941166

Prudente B.S., Pompeu P.S., Juen L. & Montag L.F.A. (2017). Effects of reduced-impact logging on physical habitat and fish assemblages in streams of Eastern Amazonia. *Freshwater Biology* **62**, 303–316. https://doi.org/10.1111/fwb.12868

Purahong W., Wubet T., Kahl T., Arnstadt T., Hoppe B., Lentendu G., *et al.* (2018). Increasing N deposition impacts neither diversity nor functions of deadwood-inhabiting fungal communities, but adaptation and functional redundancy ensure ecosystem function. *Environmental Microbiology* **20**, 1693–1710. https://doi.org/10.1111/1462-2920.14081

R Core Team (2020). R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing

Rees J.D., Kingsford R.T. & Letnic M. (2019). Changes in desert avifauna associated with the functional extinction of a terrestrial top predator. *Ecography* **42**, 67–76. https://doi.org/10.1111/ecog.03661

Reis A. da S., Albrecht M.P. & Bunn S.E. (2020). Food web pathways for fish communities in small tropical streams. *Freshwater Biology* **65**, 893–907. https://doi.org/10.1111/fwb.13471

Reis R.E., Kullander S.O. & Ferraris C.J. (2003). *Check list of the freshwater fishes of South and Central America*. Edipuers.

Sanders D., Thébault E., Kehoe R. & Frank van Veen F.J. (2018). Trophic redundancy reduces vulnerability to extinction cascades. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **115**, 2419–2424. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1716825115

Sereda J.M., Hudson J.J. & McLoughlin P.D. (2008). General empirical models for predicting the release of nutrients by fish, with a comparison between detritivores and non-detritivores. *Freshwater Biology* **53**, 2133–2144. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2427.2008.02029.x

Van der Sleen P. & Albert J.S. (2018). *Field guide to the fishes of the Amazon, Orinoco, and Guianas*. Princeton University Press.

Soares-Filho B.S., Nepstad D.C., Curran L.M., Cerqueira G.C., Garcia R.A., Ramos C.A., *et al.* (2006). Modelling conservation in the Amazon basin. *Nature* **440**, 520–523. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature04389 Spotte S. (2002). *Candiru: life and legend of the bloodsucking catfishes*, 1st edn. Creative Arts Book Co.

Sykes L., Santini L., Etard A. & Newbold T. (2020). Effects of rarity form on species' responses to land use. *Conservation Biology* **34**, 688–696. https://doi.org/10.1111/cobi.13419

Taylor B.W., Flecker A.S. & Hall R.O. (2006). Loss of a harvested fish species disrupts carbon flow in a diverse tropical river. *Science* **313**, 833–836. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1128223

TerraBrasilis (2020). PRODES (Desmatamento)

Uieda V.S. & Castro R.M.C. (1999). Coleta e fixação de peixes de riachos. *Oecologia Australis* **06**, 1– 22. https://doi.org/10.4257/oeco.1999.0601.01

Vanni M.J. (2002). Nutrient cycling by animals in freshwater ecosystems. *Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics* **33**, 341–370. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.ecolsys.33.010802.150519

Violle C., Navas M.L., Vile D., Kazakou E., Fortunel C., Hummel I., *et al.* (2007). Let the concept of trait be functional! *Oikos* **116**, 882–892. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0030-1299.2007.15559.x

Violle C., Thuiller W., Mouquet N., Munoz F., Kraft N.J.B., Cadotte M.W., et al. (2017). Functional

Rarity : The Ecology of Outliers. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* **32**, 356–367. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2017.02.002

Walker B.H. (2016). Biodiversity and Ecological Redundancy Biodiversity and Ecological Redundancy.*Conservation Biology* 6, 18–23

Wesner J.S. (2010). Aquatic predation alters a terrestrial prey subsidy. *Ecology* **91**, 1435–1444. https://doi.org/10.1890/09-1532.1

Wickham H., François R., Henry L. & Müller K. (2020). dplyr: A Grammar of Data Manipulation

Zuanon J. & Ferreira E. (2008). Feeding Ecology of Fishes in the Brazilian Amazon - A Naturalistic Approach. *Feeding and Digestive Functions in Fishes*, 1–34. https://doi.org/10.1201/b10749-2

Zuanon J. & Sazima I. (2005). Free meals on long-distance cruisers: the vampire fish rides giant catfishes in the Amazon. *Biota Neotropica* **5**, 109–114. https://doi.org/10.1590/S1676-06032005000100012

Zuanon J. & Sazima I. (2004). Vampire catfishes seek the aorta not the jugular: candirus of the genus Vandellia (Trichomycteridae) feed on major gill arteries of host fishes. *Journal of Ichthyology and Aquatic Biology* **8**, 31–36

### **Supporting Information**

## Appendix A: Methods and results of Moran's I

To evaluate whether functional distinctiveness and taxonomic scarcity are spatially structured, we calculated and tested Moran's I (Moran, 1950). First, we generated a matrix of inverse distance weights using the longitude and latitude of each sampled stream. In the matrix, if pairs of points are closer together, then entries are higher than for pairs of samples far apart. We treated the latitude and longitude data as values on a plane, rather than on a sphere, since our sampling points are close together and far from the poles. Then, we calculated Moran's I for each response variable (functional distinctiveness, and taxonomic scarcity) considering a significance level of 0.05. Species composition was represented by the first axis of a Principal Coordinate Analysis (PCoA). Functional distinctiveness and taxonomic scarcity were calculated as described in the main text, then we calculated mean values of distinctiveness and scarcity to each of the 40 samples to conduct Moran's I.

We found that neither functional distinctiveness (computed Moran's I = -0.034, expected Moran's I = -0.026, p = 0.913) nor taxonomic scarcity (computed Moran's I = -0.043, expected Moran's I = -0.026, p = 0.824) were spatially structured.

# Appendix B A list of the studies we used to assign the diet functional trait

Andrade-López J. & Machado-Allison A. (2009). Aspectos Morfológicos Y Ecológicos De Las Especies De Heptapteridae Y Auchenipteridae Presentes En El Morichal Nicolasito (Rio Aguaro, Estado Guárico, Venezuela) Morphological and Ecological Aspects of the Heptapteridae and Auchenipteridae Species in the . *Boletin Academico de Ciencias Fisicas Matematicas y Naturales* **69**, 35–52

Andrian I. de F., Silva H.B.R. & Peretti D. (2001). Dieta de Astyanax bimaculatus (Linnaeus, 1758) (Characiformes, Characidae), da área de influência do reservatório de Corumbá, Estado de Goiás, Brasil. *Acta Scientiarum: Biological Sciences* **23**, 435–440. https://doi.org/10.4025/actascibiolsci.v23i0.2735

Arcifa M.S., Northcote T.G. & Froehlich O. (1991). Interactive Ecology of Two Cohabiting Characin Fishes (Astyanax fasciatus and Astyanax bimaculatus) in an Eutrophic Brazilian Reservoir Author (s): Marlene Sofia Arcifa, Thomas Gordon Northcote, Otavio Froehlich Published by: Cambridge University P. *Journal of Tropical Ecology* **7**, 257–268. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1017/S0266467400005423

Astudillo-Clavijo V., Arbour J.H. & López-Fernández H. (2015). Selection towards different adaptive optima drove the early diversification of locomotor phenotypes in the radiation of Neotropical geophagine cichlids Evolutionary developmental biology and morphology. *BMC Evolutionary Biology* **15**, 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12862-015-0348-7

Beltrão dos Anjos H.D., Yamamoto K.C. & Magalhães E.R.S. (2017). Biologia reprodutiva e hábitos alimentares do rodóstomo (Hemigrammus bleheri) um peixe ornamental da bacia do médio rio negro, estado do amazonas, Brasil. *Boletim do Instituto de Pesca* **43**, 65–77. https://doi.org/10.20950/1678-2305.2017v43n1p65

Benzaquem D.C., Oliveira C., Da Silva Batista J., Zuanon J. & Porto J.I.R. (2015). DNA barcoding in pencilfishes (Lebiasinidae: Nannostomus) reveals cryptic diversity across the Brazilian Amazon. *PLoS ONE* **10**, 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0112217

Brejão G.L., Gerhard P. & Zuanon J. (2013). Functional trophic composition of the ichthyofauna of forest streams in eastern Brazilian Amazon. *Neotropical Ichthyology* **11**, 361–373. https://doi.org/10.1590/S1679-62252013005000006 Burress E.D., Duarte A., Serra W.S., Gangloff M.M. & Siefferman L. (2013). Species-specific ontogenetic diet shifts among Neotropical Crenicichla: Using stable isotopes and tissue stoichiometry. *Journal of Fish Biology* **82**, 1904–1915. https://doi.org/10.1111/jfb.12117

Campos A.C. de S. & Silva J.T.B. da (2017). *Biologia trófica da ictiofauna da bacia do Rio Peixe-Boi observada em dois igarapés em diferentes estágios de antropização, por meio da análise do conteúdo estomacal*. Universidade Federal Rural da Amazônia.

Carvalho L.N., Fidelis L., Arruda R., Galuch A. & Zuanon J. (2013). Second floor, please: The fish fauna of floating litter banks in amazonian streams and rivers. *Neotropical Ichthyology* **11**, 85–94. https://doi.org/10.1590/S1679-62252013000100010

Carvalho L.N., Zuanon J. & Sazima I. (2007). Natural history of amazon fishes. In: *Tropical Biology and Natural Resources Theme*, 1st edn. (Ed. K. Del-Claro), pp. 1–24. Eolss Publishers, Oxford.

Casatti L., Ferreira C.P. & Langeani F. (2009). A fish-based biotic integrity index for assessment of lowland streams in southeastern Brazil. *Hydrobiologia* **623**, 173–189. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10750-008-9656-x

Costa I.D. da & Freitas C.E. de C. (2013). Trophic ecology of the ichthyofauna of a stretch of the Urucu River (Coari, Amazonas, Brazil). *Acta Limnologica Brasiliensia* **25**, 54–67. https://doi.org/10.1590/s2179-975x2013000100007

Costa W.J.E.M. (1987). Feeding Habits of a Fish Community in a Tropical Coastal Stream, Rio Mato Grosso, Brazil. *Studies on Neotropical Fauna and Environment* **22**, 145–153. https://doi.org/10.1080/01650528709360728

Crampton W.G.R. (1998). Effects of anoxia on the distribution, respiratory strategies and electric signal diversity of gymnotiform fishes. *Journal of Fish Biology* **53**, 307–330. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1095-8649.1998.tb01034.x

Crampton W.G.R., Santana C.D. de, Waddell J.C. & Lovejoy N.R. (2016). A taxonomic revision of the Neotropical electric fish genus Brachyhypopomus (Ostariophysi: Gymnotiformes: Hypopomidae), with descriptions of 15 new species. *Neotropical Ichthyology* **14**, e150146. https://doi.org/10.1590/1982-0224-20150146 Dutra D.L. (2009). Estrutura trófica das assembléias de peixes associadas a bancos de herbáceas aquáticas em áreas de várzea ao longo do rio Amazonas, entre Tabatinga (AM) e Almeirim (PA) - Brasil. Instituto Nacional de Pesquisas da Amazônia.

Espírito-Santo H.M.V., Rodríguez M.A. & Zuanon J. (2013). Reproductive strategies of Amazonian stream fishes and their fine-scale use of habitat are ordered along a hydrological gradient. *Freshwater Biology* **58**, 2494–2504. https://doi.org/10.1111/fwb.12225

Francez L.M.D.B., De Carvalho J.O.P. & Jardim F.C.D.S. (2007). Mudanças ocorridas na composição florística em decorrência da exploração florestal em uma área de floresta de Terra firme na região de Paragominas, PA. *Acta Amazonica* **37**, 219–228. https://doi.org/10.1590/s0044-59672007000200007

Giora J. & Fialho C.B. (2003). Biologia alimentar de Steindachnerina brevipinna (Characiformes, Curimatidae) do rio Ibicuí-mirim, Rio Grande do Sul, Brasil. *Iheringia. Série Zoologia* **93**, 277–281. https://doi.org/10.1590/s0073-47212003000300007

Gonçalves C. da S., Braga F.M. de S. & Casatti L. (2018). Trophic structure of coastal freshwater stream fishes from an Atlantic rainforest: evidence of the importance of protected and forest-covered areas to fish diet. *Environmental Biology of Fishes* **101**, 933–948. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10641-018-0749-8

Guisande C., Pelayo-Villamil P., Vera M., Manjarrés-Hernández A., Carvalho M.R., Vari R.P., *et al.* (2012). Ecological factors and diversification among Neotropical characiforms. *International Journal of Ecology* **2012**. https://doi.org/10.1155/2012/610419

Ibañez C., Tedesco P.A., Bigorne R., Hugueny B., Pouilly M., Zepita C., *et al.* (2007). Dietarymorphological relationships in fish assemblages of small forested streams in the Bolivian Amazon. *Aquatic Living Resources* **20**, 131–142. https://doi.org/10.1051/alr:2007024

Jakovac A.C., Buzatto B.A. & Tokman D.G. (2006). Estruturação da comunidade de peixes associados a macrófitas aquáticas flutuantes no rio Solimões, Amazônia Central. In: *Ecologia da Floresta Amazônica*, 11th edn. Instituto Nacional de Pesquisas da Amazônia, Manaus.

King R.S., Baker M.E., Whigham D.F., Weller D.E., Jordan T.E., Kazyak P.F., *et al.* (2005). Spatial considerations for linking watershed land cover to ecological indicators in streams. *Ecological Applications* **15**, 137–153. https://doi.org/10.1890/04-0481

Kramer D.L. & McClure M. (1981). The Transit Cost of Aerial Respiration in the Catfish Corydoras aeneus (Callichthyidae). *Physiological Zoology* **54**, 189–194. https://doi.org/10.1086/physzool.54.2.30155819

Leal C.G., Pompeu P.S., Gardner T.A., Leitão R.P., Hughes R.M., Kaufmann P.R., *et al.* (2016). Multi-scale assessment of human-induced changes to Amazonian instream habitats. *Landscape Ecology* **31**, 1725–1745. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10980-016-0358-x

Lima S.M.Q., Cunha A.A., Sánchez-Botero J.I. & Caramaschi E.P. (2008). Vertical segregation of two species of Hyphessobrycon (Characiformes: Characidae) in the Cabiúnas coastal lagoon, southeastern Brazil. *Neotropical Ichthyology* **6**, 683–688. https://doi.org/10.1590/S1679-62252008000400018

Marinho M.M.F. & Menezes N.A. (2017). *Taxonomic review of Copella (Characiformes: Lebiasinidae) with an identification key for the species.* 

Mérigoux S., Dolédec S. & Statzner B. (2001). Species traits in relation to habitat variability and state: Neotropical juvenile fish in floodplain creeks. *Freshwater Biology* **46**, 1251–1267. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2427.2001.00744.x

de Mérona B. & Rankin-de-Mérona J. (2004). Food resource partitioning in a fish community of the central Amazon floodplain. *Neotropical Ichthyology* **2**, 75–84. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1590/S1679-62252004000200004

Montaña C.G. & Winemiller K.O. (2009). Comparative feeding ecology and habitats use of Crenicichla species (Perciformes: Cichlidae) in a Venezuelan floodplain river. *Neotropical Ichthyology* **7**, 267–274. https://doi.org/10.1590/s1679-62252009000200019

Muriel-Cunha J. & Pinna M. de (2005). New data on cistern catfish, Phreatobius cisternarum, from subterranean waters at the mouth of the Amazon River (Siluriformes, Incertae Sedis). *Papéis Avulsos de Zoologia* **45**, 327–339. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1590/S0031-10492005002600001

Peretti D. & Andrian I. de F. (1999). Feeding of Eigenmannia trilineata (Pisces, Sternopygidae) (Lopez & Castello, 1966), in the upper Paraná River floodplain, Brazil. *Brazilian Archives of Biology and Technology* **42**, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1590/s1516-89131999000100011

Pinto T.L.F. & Uieda V.S. (2007). Aquatic insects selected as food for fishes of a tropical stream: Are there spatial and seasonal differences in their selectivity? *Acta Limnologica Brasiliensia* **19**, 67–78

Prieto Piraquive E.F., Duque S.R. & Sabogal González A. (2016). Estructura trófica del ensamblaje íctico de los lagos de Yahuarcaca, Amazonas, Colombia. *Mundo Amazónico* **6**, 67–85. https://doi.org/10.15446/ma.v6n2.52809

Ramírez F., Davenport T.L. & Mojica J.I. (2015). Dietary-morphological relationships of nineteen fish species from an Amazonian terra firme blackwater stream in Colombia. *Limnologica* **52**, 89–102. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.limno.2015.04.002

Röpke C.P., Ferreira E. & Zuanon J. (2014). Seasonal changes in the use of feeding resources by fish in stands of aquatic macrophytes in an Amazonian floodplain, Brazil. *Environmental Biology of Fishes* **97**, 401–414. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10641-013-0160-4

Santos L.L. dos (2017). *Relações atributos ecomorfológicos-variáveis ambientais em assembleias de peixes de riachos amazônicos*. Universidade Federal do Pará.

Santos S.M. dos (2005). Relações tróficas entre Carnegiella marthae Myers, 1927, C. strigata (Günther, 1864) e Gnathocharax steindachneri Fowler, 1913 (Ostheichthyes: Characiformes) em igarapés próximo ao lago Amanâ - Amazonas - Brasil. Universidade Federal do Amazonas.

Sazima I. (1983). Scale-eating in characoids and other fishes. *Environmental Biology of Fishes* **9**, 87–101. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00690855

Silva N.C. dos S., da Costa A.J.L., Louvise J., Soares B.E., Reis V.C. e. S., Albrecht M.P., *et al.* (2016). Resource partitioning and ecomorphological variation in two syntopic species of lebiasinidae (Characiformes) in an amazonian stream. *Acta Amazonica* **46**, 25–36. https://doi.org/10.1590/1809-4392201501024

Teresa F.B., Casatti L. & Cianciaruso M.V. (2015). Functional differentiation between fish assemblages from forested and deforested streams. *Neotropical Ichthyology* **13**, 361–370. https://doi.org/10.1590/1982-0224-20130229

Turko A.J. & Wright P.A. (2015). Evolution, ecology and physiology of amphibious killifishes (Cyprinodontiformes). *Journal of Fish Biology* **87**, 815–835. https://doi.org/10.1111/jfb.12758

Ximenes L.Q.L., de Fatima Mateus L.A. & Penha J.M.F. (2011). Variação temporal e espacial na composição de guildas alimentares da ictiofauna em lagoas marginais do rio cuiabá, pantanal norte. *Biota Neotropica* **11**, 205–215. https://doi.org/10.1590/S1676-06032011000100022

Zuanon J., Carvalho L.N. & Sazima I. (2006). A chamaeleon characin: The plant-clinging and colour-changing Ammocryptocharax elegans (Characidiinae: Crenuchidae). *Ichthyological Exploration of Freshwaters* **17**, 225–232

Zuanon J. & Ferreira E. (2008). Feeding Ecology of Fishes in the Brazilian Amazon - A Naturalistic Approach. In: *Feeding and Digestive Functions in Fishes*. (Eds J.E.P. Cyrino, D.P. Bureau & B.G. Kapoor), pp. 1–34. CRC Press, Boca Raton

Appendix C: Taxonomic composition, total abundance, occurrence, functional trait and its respectively functional categories, and local and regional indexes of the taxonomic and functional rarity.

Table C1. Taxonomic composition, total abundance, occurrence (as the number of streams that the species occurred within the 40 sampled), the proportion of each functional category in the diet for species, and local and regional indexes of the taxonomic and functional rarity of the fish assemblage in the 40 sampled streams. InvA = Autochthonous Invertivore; InvT = Allochthonous Invertivore; Pis = Piscivores; Alg = Algivore; Det = Detritivore; Larv = Larvivorous; Hemato = Hematophagous.

 	Total	Occur-			D	iet fuzz	zy trait			Local	rarity indexes	Regional rarity indexes	
Тахоп	Abundance	rence	InvA	InvT	Pis	Alg	Det	Larv	Hemato	Scarcity	Distinctiveness	Restrictiveness	Uniqueness
CHARACIFORMES													
Characidae													
Bario steindachneri (Eigenmann, 1893)	3	3	0.00	1.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.96	0.68	0.93	0.00
Hemigrammus belottii (Steindachner, 1882)	217	11	0.00	0.74	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.26	0.00	0.56	0.47	0.73	0.18
Hemigrammus rodwayi Durbin, 1909	45	6	0.00	0.50	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.50	0.00	0.78	0.35	0.85	0.00
Hyphessobrycon heterorhabdus (Ulrey, 1894)	6609	39	0.00	0.50	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.50	0.00	0.16	0.42	0.03	0.00
Knodus victoriae (Steindachner, 1907)	8	2	0.00	0.50	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.50	0.00	0.68	0.43	0.95	0.00
Moenkhausia collettii (Steindachner, 1882)	7	3	0.00	0.50	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.50	0.00	0.93	0.28	0.93	0.00
Moenkhausia oligolepis (Günther, 1864)	9	5	0.16	0.48	0.06	0.05	0.01	0.24	0.00	0.97	0.38	0.88	0.19
Phenacogaster pectinatus (Cope, 1870)	1	1	0.50	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.50	0.00	0.87	0.60	0.98	0.00
Crenuchidae													
Characidium etheostoma Cope, 1872	65	14	1.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.85	0.84	0.65	0.27
Characidium zebra Eigenmann, 1909	1	1	0.42	0.01	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.56	0.00	0.87	0.61	0.98	0.08
Crenuchus spilurus Günther, 1863	25	4	0.33	0.33	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.33	0.00	0.92	0.42	0.90	0.00
Melanocharacidium dispilomma Buckup, 1993	1	1	0.50	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.50	0.00	0.87	0.60	0.98	0.00
Microcharacidium weitzmani Buckup, 1993	732	17	0.25	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.75	0.00	0.48	0.54	0.58	0.05
Erythrinidae													
Erythrinus erythrinus (Bloch & Schneider, 1801)	497	38	0.13	0.25	0.50	0.00	0.00	0.13	0.00	0.69	0.75	0.05	0.35
Hoplias malabaricus (Bloch, 1794)	47	17	0.18	0.00	0.82	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.86	0.95	0.58	0.15

Gasteropelecidae													
Carnegiella strigata (Günther, 1864)	8	2	0.10	0.90	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.68	0.62	0.95	0.08
Iguanodectidae													
Bryconops caudomaculatus (Günther, 1864)	1	1	0.00	0.50	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.50	0.00	0.93	0.37	0.98	0.00
Iguanodectes rachovii Regan, 1912	927	25	0.07	0.57	0.00	0.14	0.00	0.21	0.00	0.35	0.51	0.38	0.18
Lebiasinidae													
Copella arnoldi (Regan, 1912)	323	10	0.11	0.39	0.00	0.14	0.00	0.36	0.00	0.41	0.39	0.75	0.23
Nannostomus trifasciatus Steindachner, 1876	47	10	0.33	0.00	0.00	0.33	0.00	0.33	0.00	0.84	0.67	0.75	0.43
Pyrrhulina brevis Steindachner, 1876	909	38	0.00	0.50	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.50	0.00	0.62	0.29	0.05	0.00
CICHLIFORMES													
Cichlidae													
Aequidens tetramerus (Heckel, 1840)	214	29	0.00	0.50	0.00	0.50	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.82	0.75	0.28	0.45
Apistogramma regani Kullander, 1980	1520	37	0.33	0.25	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.42	0.00	0.33	0.48	0.08	0.00
Apistogramma agassizii (Steindachner, 1875)	118	3	0.25	0.25	0.00	0.08	0.00	0.42	0.00	0.46	0.37	0.93	0.14
Crenicichla saxatilis (Linnaeus, 1758)	128	19	0.50	0.00	0.10	0.00	0.00	0.40	0.00	0.76	0.63	0.53	0.13
Nannacara taenia Regan, 1912	158	7	0.33	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.67	0.00	0.53	0.47	0.83	0.10
CYPRINODONTIFORMES													
Rivulidae													
Anablepsoides urophthalmus (Günther, 1866)	347	35	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	1.00	0.00	0.77	0.59	0.13	0.17
GYMNOTIFORMES													
Gymnotidae													
Gymnotus carapo Linnaeus, 1758	7	6	0.55	0.04	0.00	0.00	0.07	0.33	0.00	0.96	0.68	0.85	0.17
Gymnotus coropinae Hoedeman, 1962	213	32	0.50	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.50	0.00	0.77	0.62	0.20	0.00
Gymnotus pantherinus (Steindachner, 1908)	115	24	0.62	0.14	0.00	0.03	0.00	0.22	0.00	0.79	0.68	0.40	0.19
Gymnotus sp.	2	1	0.50	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.50	0.00	0.93	0.50	0.98	0.00
Hypopomidae													
Brachyhypopomus beebei (Schultz, 1944) Brachyhypopomus bravirostris (Steindechnor	70	8	0.20	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.80	0.00	0.89	0.55	0.80	0.00
1868)	27	5	0.20	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.80	0.00	0.83	0.42	0.88	0.00
Brachyhypopomus sp.2	210	21	0.20	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.80	0.00	0.80	0.53	0.48	0.00
Brachyhypopomus sp.3	11	5	0.20	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.80	0.00	0.92	0.46	0.88	0.00
Brachyhypopomus sp.4	4	1	0.20	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.80	0.00	0.73	0.48	0.98	0.00

Hypopygus lepturus Hoedeman, 1962 Microsternarchus bilineatus Fernández-Yépez,	18	7	0.50	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.50	0.00	0.89	0.57	0.83	0.00
1968	29	9	0.33	0.25	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.42	0.00	0.88	0.38	0.78	0.00
Rhamphichthyidae													
Gymnorhamphichthys petiti Géry & Vu, 1964	320	19	0.33	0.33	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.33	0.00	0.52	0.42	0.53	0.00
Sternopygidae													
Eigenmannia sp.	1	1	0.40	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.20	0.40	0.00	0.96	0.54	0.98	0.19
Sternopygus macrurus (Bloch & Schneider, 1801)	1	1	0.45	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.05	0.50	0.00	0.97	0.59	0.98	0.06
SILURIFORMES													
Auchenipteridae													
Tetranematichthys wallacei Vari & Ferraris, 2006	1	1	0.00	0.00	1.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.97	0.99	0.98	0.00
Callichthyidae													
Callichthys callichthys (Linnaeus, 1758)	6	5	0.33	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.33	0.33	0.00	0.98	0.72	0.88	0.00
Corydoras melanistius Regan, 1912	3	1	0.20	0.20	0.20	0.20	0.00	0.20	0.00	0.66	0.59	0.98	0.00
Megalechis picta (Müller & Troschel, 1849)	1	1	0.20	0.20	0.20	0.20	0.00	0.20	0.00	0.97	0.57	0.98	0.00
Megalechis thoracata (Valenciennes, 1840)	2	2	0.33	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.33	0.33	0.00	0.97	0.67	0.95	0.00
Cetopsidae													
Denticetopsis epa Vari, Ferraris & de Pinna, 2005	14	9	0.00	1.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.90	0.62	0.78	0.00
Helogenes marmoratus Günther, 1863	409	39	0.00	0.50	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.50	0.00	0.70	0.30	0.03	0.00
Doradidae													
Acanthodoras cataphractus (Linnaeus, 1758)	1	1	0.33	0.00	0.33	0.00	0.00	0.33	0.00	0.97	0.65	0.98	0.33
Heptapteridae													
Mastiglanis asopos Bockmann, 1994	7	2	0.00	0.50	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.50	0.00	0.80	0.39	0.95	0.00
Pimelodella sp.	6	5	0.30	0.02	0.68	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.94	0.90	0.88	0.15
Rhamdia muelleri (Günther, 1864)	12	5	0.00	0.00	1.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.89	0.95	0.88	0.00
Loricariidae													
Farlowella amazonum (Günther, 1864)	11	5	0.00	0.00	0.00	1.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.82	0.95	0.88	0.54
Rineloricaria sp.	1	1	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	1.00	0.00	0.00	0.87	1.00	0.98	0.65
Pseudopimelodidae													
Batrochoglanis raninus (Valenciennes, 1840)	5	3	0.50	0.00	0.50	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.87	0.84	0.93	0.26
Trichomycteridae													
Ituglanis sp.	100	19	0.00	0.50	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.50	0.00	0.80	0.33	0.53	0.00

Paracanthopoma sp.	25	7	0.13	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.25	0.63	0.84	0.86	0.83	0.77

# Appendix D: Figure of the functional space occupied by the species sampled.

Figure D1. Axis of a Principal Coordinates Analysis representing the functional space occupied by the traits of the 57 species sampled in our study. Each colour gradient represents the proportion of species' diet to the functional category of trait. InvA = Autochthonous Invertivore, InvT = Allochthonous Invertivore, Pis = Piscivore, Hemato = Hematophagous, Alg = Algivore, Det = Detritivore, and Larv = Larvivore.



# Habitat loss and fish functional extinction in Amazonian streams in the Anthropocene

Formatado conforme as normas da publicação científica *Oikos*, disponível em:

https://www.oikosjournal.org/authors/ author-guidelines

#### Habitat loss and the fish functional extinctions in Amazonian streams in the Anthropocene

# Abstract

Earth has entered a sixth mass extinction event during the Anthropocene and its major cause is the habitat loss promoted by human activities. In this context, rare species that survive only under high habitat integrity are the main target of extinction. Extinction will bring cascade effects to ecosystem functioning when functional losses occur in the habitat. In this view, our main goal was to predict and scale future scenarios of functional extinction in Amazonian streams. We investigated the effects of fish species extinction in functional rarity and individual functional traits at local and regional scales, further identifying the traits prone to extirpation. We sampled the fish community and environmental conditions of 63 streams at eastern Amazon. Then, we built an integrated index of vulnerability to extinction based on species' rarity and vulnerability to habitat loss, in which rare species that survive only under high habitat integrity are sensible, and common species that supports low habitat integrity are tolerant. Finally, we constructed three extinction scenarios that extirpated (I) sensible, (II) and tolerant species, and (III) at random. We found that when sensible species to habitat loss were extinct first, the functional rarity of the community decreased at local scale, but increased at regional scale, while when tolerant species were extinct first, we registered the inverse pattern. Moreover, functional losses start after the extinction of 5% and 10% of sensible species at local and regional scales, respectively. In contrast, tolerant species supports 90% and 95% of extinction until the first functional loss occur at local and regional scales, respectively. If the ongoing extinction crisis indeed targets sensible species, we should expect that Amazon stream ecosystem will collapse under rapid functional loss after the extinction of piscivores, detritivores, algivores and hematophagous, the most vulnerable traits.

Keywords: effect traits; functional rarity; land-use; deforestation; trophic ecology.

### Introduction

Habitat loss happens when a natural habitat is destroyed or heavily altered into a new habitat with different resources and conditions than previously available, thus, an area that is no longer able to support the species that previously composed the community (Bueno et al. 2018). This process is one of the major threats to biodiversity in the Anthropocene, often leading to species extinction and further changes in ecosystem and community dynamics (Pimm et al. 2014, Bueno et al. 2018). However, different species may show distinct responses to habitat loss. Some species have a broad dietary breadth and are able to thrive in several habitats with different environmental conditions, these are tolerant species: they are less prone to extinction since they are able to support altered conditions or to explore the resources after habitat loss (McKinney and Lockwood 1999, Bueno et al. 2018). Otherwise, some species have evolved exploring specific diets or tolerating a small range of conditions in pristine environments, these are sensible species: they are more prone to extinction after habitat loss since they depend on specific conditions and resources provided only by pristine habitats (McKinney and Lockwood 1999, Bueno et al. 2018).

Once species are extinct, the function they provided to ecosystem and community maintenance also disappears if no other species continues to provide the same function in the ecosystem (Violle et al. 2017). The risk of functional extinction after habitat loss depends not only on if species are sensible or tolerant but also on their taxonomic and functional rarity (Violle et al. 2017, Bueno et al. 2018). Populations composed by few individuals and species distributed in a restrict area should be at higher risk of extinction than populations of abundant species with a widespread distribution, since few individuals or populations need to go extinct for the species to disappear regionally (Hull et al. 2015, Violle et al. 2017). Concerning their functional rarity, species may provide redundant functions when several species perform similar ecological functions in the ecosystem, or distinct functions when species provide an exclusive function in the ecosystem (Naeem 1998, Violle et al. 2017). Distinct and unique functions to the ecosystem are usually provided by sensible species. In this view, the extinction of some redundant species might not have relevant consequences to ecosystem functioning since remaining species still provide the same function (Violle et al. 2017).

Pristine forests in Amazon have been converted into cattle ranching and monocultures recently but in an increasing rate (TerraBrasilis 2020), which led to a loss of nearly 20% of natural habitats in Amazon (Zemp et al. 2017). Rates of deforestation are increasing (TerraBrasilis 2020) and threatening especially sensible and rare species to extinction (McKinney and Lockwood 1999, Hubbell 2013, Foley et al. 2014, Zemp et al. 2017). If these species support distinct functions in the ecosystem, then we should expect the disappearance of essential goods and services provided by the Amazon rainforest. Although habitat loss due to deforestation is most noticeable in terrestrial habitats, freshwater streams are also depleted given its dependencies from the terrestrial habitat in its margins (Casatti et al. 2012, Azevedo-Santos et al. 2019). The pervasive effects of habitat loss in aquatic environments are expressed as losses in stream' integrity, such as changes in the environmental conditions and loss of resources (such as food and microhabitats; Prudente et al. 2018). Moreover, species may respond to habitat loss changing from a diverse community supporting several ecosystem functions to a community composed by tolerant and functionally redundant species (McKinney and Lockwood 1999, Flynn et al. 2009).

In this view, our main goal is to predict and scale future effects of species extinction on ecosystem functioning in scenarios of extinction driven by species' vulnerability to habitat loss. To do so, we developed three extinction scenarios of (1) sensible and (2) tolerant species to habitat loss extinction and a (3) random extinction scenario to answer three major questions: (a) How the functional rarity of the community changes as species goes extinct based on their vulnerability to habitat loss at local and regional scales? (b) How many individuals, at the local scale, and populations, at the regional scale, need to be extinct in each scenario for the community to lose its first function at both scales? And (c) which is the first lost functional category in the different extinction scenarios? We hypothesize that when sensible species to habitat loss are extinct first, the community's functional rarity should

decrease as species go extinct, and the first function should be lost after few species go extinct. Otherwise, when tolerant species to habitat loss are extinct first, the community's functional rarity should increase as species go extinct, and the first function should be lost after many species went extinct. Sensible species usually provide a set of distinct and unique functions to the ecosystem (Birkhofer et al. 2015, Violle et al. 2017); thus, when they go extinct, the community's functional rarity should decrease as only tolerant species remain in the community, which are usually functionally redundant (Casatti et al. 2015a, Violle et al. 2017).

# Methods

We sampled 63 first to third order streams in the Capim river basin, eastern Amazon, from 2012 to 2018 (Fig. 1). The region has a humid-tropical climate, with a rainy period from December to May, and a dry period from June to November. The mean annual temperature reaches 26°C e the mean annual precipitation is 2344 mm<sup>3</sup>, reaching a maximum of 427 mm<sup>3</sup> during May, and a minimum of 54 mm<sup>3</sup> during September. Streams were sampled during the dry season to avoid seasonal variation among samples and selected based on their accessibility, assuring the independence between samples by always sampling streams at least 2 km far from each other following the watercourse. The region is a mosaic of cities, agriculture and cattle ranching due to extensive human exploitation, but still, a portion of its territory is composed by large pristine forest fragments (Fig. 1).



Figure 1. The geographical location of the 63 sampled streams and landscape configuration in Capim River basin, eastern Amazon.

We sampled fishes using hand nets during six hours in a stretch of 150 m of each stream. This active sampling method assures high sampling efficiency, since we are able to sample the majority of microhabitats used by Amazon stream fish (Leitão et al. 2016; Montag et al. 2019). The collected fish were euthanized with lethal doses of Eugenol anaesthetic, fixed in Formalin at 10% concentration and after a 72 hours period, fishes were conserved in Alcohol at 70% concentration for further identification. In the laboratory, fishes were counted and identified to the lowest taxonomical level possible using specialized literature (Albert 2001, Reis et al. 2003, Van der Sleen and Albert 2018) and with the help of fish taxonomists. The Animal Ethics Committee (CEUA) approved the collecting method) under protocol number 8293020418 (UFPA).

In each of the 63 streams, we measured seven environmental variables previously reported to influence stream fish (Juen et al. 2016, Prudente et al. 2017, Ferreira and Begot 2018, Montag et al. 2019) following the method proposed by Peck et al. (2006) with metric calculations following Kaufmann et al. (1999).: (I) Mean depth of thalweg (cm), (II) standard deviation (SD) of thalweg depth (cm), (III) fast channel habitats (%), (IV) SD canopy density stands (%), and (V) proportion of human impact, which increases in human modified habitats, and (VI) mean woody cover, and (VII) proportion of undercut banks, which decreases in human modified habitats. We measured thalweg in 150 equidistant measures of depth along the thalweg profile, when was also recorded the occurred of undercut banks and classified the channel habitat type (into pool, smooth flow, riffle, rapid, cascade, waterfall or dry channel). Posteriorly, we considered riffle, rapid, cascade and waterfall into fast channel habitats and calculated the proportion of fast channel habitats in comparison to other channel habitat types. In addition, we subdivided the 150 m stretch of the stream into 10 equidistant subsections and established a 10 m<sup>2</sup> plot adjacent to each subsection to evaluate the structure and density of riparian vegetation. Then, we measured canopy and woody cover in each plot using a densitometer in six directions: centre-upstream, centre-downstream, centre-left, centre-right, left and right. In each subsection, we visually assessed the presence of and proximity to human disturbances in both riverbanks, quantifying the occurrence of land uses or anthropogenic disturbances (i.e., plantation, pasture, logging, mining, walls, dykes, canals, dams, buildings, pavement, roads, railroads, drainage pipes, landfill/trash, and parks). The observations were assigned to one of three proximity classifications: B, within the stream or in the margins; C, within the riparian plot; P, outside the riparian plot; and 0, for no human disturbance.

We assigned a functional trait of species' diet divided into seven functional categories: (I) Autochthonous invertivore (feed on adult forms of aquatic invertebrates); (II) allochthonous invertivore (feed on adult forms of terrestrial invertebrates); (III) piscivore (feed on other fish); (IV) algivore (feed on algae); (V) larvivorous (feed on the larvae of aquatic and some terrestrial organisms); (VI) detritivore (feed on organic matter in the bottom of stream); and (VII) hematophagous (feed on blood). The diet trait is a fuzzy-type, since it is based on the proportions of each functional category, and was chosen because of its ability to inform the *effect* of functional extinction in the ecosystem dynamics (Table 1; Violle et al. 2007, Pavoine et al. 2009).

Table 1. Diet functional trait, its respective categories (functions), and why they are important in ecosystem functioning and community dynamics. Information from the "Why is this function important?" and its references support the post-extinction scenario of functions in Fig. 5.

Functional effect trait	Categories	Why is this function important?						
	Autochthonous invertivore	These are fish who feed on adult aquatic invertebrates. When autochthonous invertivore fish are present in the stream, they control the population of grazing invertebrates, thus lowering the predation pressure on periphytic algae (Hargrave et al. 2006). This top-down control allows higher algae biomass and higher primary production in the ecosystem (Hargrave 2006). Beyond, Hargrave et al. (2006) indicates that when autochthonous invertivore fish decreases the density of grazing invertebrates, it leads to lower competition among grazer species, allowing for higher growth of grazer fish.						
DIET	Allochthonous invertivore	These are fish who feed on adult terrestrial invertebrates. They activel translocate nutrients between terrestrial and aquatic ecosystems providing "new" nutrients in the stream (Vanni 2002). This enhance nutrient input allows for higher primary productivity, thus more comple trophic interactions and higher densities of consumers (Hargrave 2006). In this view, ecosystems where this function is played by fish usuall present higher primary and secondary productivity (Nakano an Murakami 2001).						
	Piscivore	These fish directly control the population of its prey. Experimental studies have previously related cascade trophic effects of these predatory fish on invertivores fish biomass and growth (Gilliam et al. 1993, Greenberg et al. 2005, Lovell et al. 2017). Gilliam et al. (1993) evidenced that the presence of the piscivore <i>Hoplias malabaricus</i> led to lower biomass of a preyed invertivorous fish in tropical streams, which only presented small individuals in sites where the predator was present.						
	Algivore	These are fish who feed on phytoplankton or periphytic algae. They control the algae population in streams, allowing the coexistence between species and higher diversity of algae (Power et al. 1988, Flecker						

	1996). When algivore fish are present, the biomass of diatoms tends to decrease while the biomass of nitrogen-fixing cyanobacteria increases, as these cyanobacteria are facilitated by algivores (Power et al. 1988, Flecker 1996). The extinction of this functional category can trigger a eutrophication process in the stream if environmental conditions are already degraded, creating a hypoxic system with low visibility and water quality due to algae overgrowth (Flecker et al., 2002).
Detritivore	These are fish who explore the organic matter accumulated in the stream bottom. They assure the nutrient cycling in the ecosystem, releasing the organic carbon locked in the organic matter in the ecosystem to be used by other organisms in the trophic web (Flecker 1996, Taylor et al. 2006). Beyond interfering in its stream, detritivore species also ensure the release of organic carbon downstream, as the nutrient is carried by streamflow (Taylor et al. 2006).
Larvivorous	These fish control the population of its larvae prey, influencing the adult population densities of these organisms (Wesner 2010). Experimental studies have shown that the effects that larvivorous fish may have in the community cross boundaries of ecosystems, for example, fish who feed on Dragonfly and Mosquito aquatic larvae decreases the population of the insects in the adult phase, at the terrestrial habitat (Chandra et al. 2008, Wesner 2010). Larvivorous fish are effectively at controlling the biomass of Mosquitos that are vectors of human diseases, such as malaria and dengue fever, common diseases in the tropics (Chandra et al. 2008, De Góes Cavalcanti et al. 2009).
Hematophagous	These fish feed on the blood of other fish, making an incision on the gills arteries and engorging themselves in the blood (Zuanon and Sazima 2004). They can kill its host (although it is rare) but mainly makes its host more vulnerable to diseases and infections due to the open incision they left in the host's blood system (Spotte 2002, Zuanon and Sazima 2004). As hematophagous weakens its host and indirectly leads to its death is an important function itself, as it contributes to nutrient cycling by leaving its host body to be decomposed. Beyond, the death of the host reduces intraspecific competition among its host in the stream, allowing the coexistence of multiple species. The species in our study ( <i>Paracanthopoma</i> sp.) uses its host to migrate between water bodies, in this way, this hematophagous contributes to the input of "new" translocate nutrients between streams and rivers trough excretion (Zuanon and Sazima 2005).

To accurately assign species' diet, we conducted digestive tract content analysis combined with a literature search of species' diet. To analyse species' digestive tracts, we selected six individuals of each species (except for those with less than six individuals) with similar body sizes to avoid ontogenetic variation. We then removed the digestive tract through a ventral incision. Further, we dissected the digestive tract, and its content was screened and identified to the lowest taxonomical level possible using specific literature (Mugnai et al. 2010, Hamada et al. 2014) and the help of specialists in the different taxonomic groups. Finally, we measured the proportion (%) of each functional category for each species based on the food items found in its digestive tract (Hyslop 1980). To complement the digestive tract analyses, we collected published studies that assigned proportions of food items for the species. Moreover, we summed this diet proportion based on the literature to those based on digestive tract analyses. For studies that classified species into trophic groups instead of providing diet proportions, we assigned equal proportions of functional categories based on each trophic group cited by the study. We considered only studies that described the diet of adult stages of species. When we did not find diet literature to a specific species and to species which we only identified to genus level, we considered studies that described the diet of other species from the genus. *Data analysis* 

We measured functional rarity at local and regional scales, as distinctiveness (D) and uniqueness (U) indexes, respectively (Violle et al. 2017). To measure functional rarity, we used a local distinctiveness index (D) weighted by species' relative abundance, which measures how distinct the species' functional traits are in comparison to all the other species in the same stream. (Violle *et al.*, 2017). Thus, functional distinctiveness (D) is the mean functional distance of species *i* to species *j*  $(d_{ij})$ among N other species weighted by its relative abundance (Ab), in this way, a species is even more distinct if it does not share its traits with the most abundant species in the community:

$$D_i = \frac{\sum_{j=1,j=i}^N d_{ij} \times Ab_j}{\sum_{j=1,j=i}^N Ab_j}$$

Regionally, we measured species' functional uniqueness (*U*), which reflects the functional distance of species *i* to species *j* ( $d_{ij}$ ), in which species *j* is the most functionally similar neighbour of species *i* in the functional space occupied by all species sampled in the region (Violle et al. 2017). In

this way,  $U_i$  is high when species *i* has a unique combination of traits compared to other species within the region, mainly if the functional distance of species *i* to its closest neighbour is high. Thus, species' restrictiveness (*U*) is:

$$U_i = \min(d_{ij}) j = i *$$

To calculate the functional rarity indexes, we converted our fuzzy trait matrix to a Gower's distance matrix between species (Pavoine et al. 2009, Grenié et al. 2017). Higher values in Gower's distance represent high differences between pairs of species concerning their functional traits (Pavoine et al. 2009).

To measure taxonomic rarity, we used a local scarcity index (*Sc*), which is the inverse of species' relative abundance, but it ranges from 0 to 1 and has a pivotal value of 0.5 for species with a relative abundance corresponding to 1/N, as *N* is the number of species in the community (Violle et al. 2017). When the relative abundance of species *i* (*Ab<sub>i</sub>*) is higher than its expectation under a perfect evenly distribution of abundance among species (>1/N) the species tends to be dominant, thus have lower values of scarcity. Otherwise, species are scarcer when its relative abundance is lower than 1/N. Thus, scarcity (*Sc<sub>i</sub>*) may be express as:

$$Sc_i = \exp[-N \times \ln(2) \times Ab_i]$$

We also measured species' regional restrictiveness (R; Violle et al. 2017), considering species' occurrences in the 40 streams sampled as a measure of geographical extent.  $R_i$  is then expressed as 1 minus the geographical extent (Ge) of species i in comparison to the maximum geographical extent (most widespread species;  $Ge_{max}$ ). In this way, species with higher values of R have a restricted distribution, while species with lower values are widespread across the region. Thus, regional restrictiveness ( $R_i$ ) is:

$$R_i = 1 - \frac{Ge_i}{Ge_{max}}$$

We choose to assess rarity in local and regional scale because species can vary regarding its rarity according to the scale (Violle et al. 2017). For instance, a species can provide exclusive traits to the local stream, but when we consider the whole basin, the same species may share its traits with others of different streams.

To determine species' vulnerability to habitat loss, we first measured the habitat integrity of each sample based on the seven environmental variables collected. Habitat integrity should reflect "how much" of that habitat is already lost as long as habitat integrity is based on environmental variables that vary according to human modification (Prudente et al. 2018). Thus, to calculate the habitat integrity, first standardized the environmental variables on a continuous scale ranging from 0 (lowest integrity possible) to 10 (highest integrity possible) using the lower and upper expectation of interquartile range (Klemm et al. 2003). The upper limit was defined as the 75<sup>th</sup> percentile of the distribution of the variable, while the lower limit was the 25<sup>th</sup> percentile of the distribution of the variable, while the lower limit received a value of 10, while those under the lower limit received a value of 0. All other values were standardized based on the equation: Standardized variable = observed value – lower limit/upper limit – lower limit. For variables that increased in human disturbed streams, we corrected the index based on: Corrected index = (calculated index – 10) \* (-1). With this correction, all variables increase as habitat integrity increases. Finally, for each stream, the final value of habitat integrity was obtained through the sum of all seven standardized variables divided by the number of variables.

Moreover, we used the minimal habitat integrity needed for species to survive as a measure of sensibility to habitat loss. In this way, if the minimal integrity needed for a species to survive is 0, it should be more tolerant to habitat loss. Whereas, if the minimal integrity needed for a species to survive is 10, then it should be more sensible to habitat loss, since it only survives under high habitat integrity. We identified this minimal integrity needed for species with >3 occurrences using a Threshold Indicator Taxa Analysis (TITAN; with 999 permutations) of species' abundance against the habitat

integrity gradient (King and Baker 2014). For those with <3 occurrences, we used the lowest habitat integrity in which the species occurred in the streams.

To develop simulations of extinction driven by species' vulnerability to habitat loss, we built an additional framework that considered species rarity and its minimal habitat integrity needed to survive. We first standardized the minimal habitat integrity needed for species to survive to range from 0 to 1 so we could sum with species' rarity, divide by two, and construct a single index that summarized species' rarity and sensibility to habitat loss. This new index of vulnerability to habitat loss ranges from 0, for tolerant species, which are abundant at local scale or widespread at regional scale, and able to survive under low habitat integrity, to 1, for sensible species, which are scarce (local scale) or restrict (regional scale) and survive only under high habitat integrity. We built simulations of extinction in which the individuals, in the local scale, and populations, at the regional scale, were extinct based on species' vulnerability to habitat loss. In this view, we built three extinction scenarios in each scale: (I) tolerant species extinct first, (II) sensible species extinct first, and (III) random extinction. We built the random scenario to compare with the other two scenarios (sensible and tolerant species extinction). The random scenario is based on null models for each stream, at local scale, and for all samples, at the regional scale, that randomized species' vulnerability to habitat loss (thus, the order of extinction) 1000 times while conserving species' functional rarity and functional traits (Leitão et al. 2016). Our extinction scenarios also return an ordered list from the first to the last functional category lost after extinction. Thus, to answer our third question, we identified the order of functional category extinction, at the regional scale, and the proportion (%) of the first lost functional category considering each stream at the local scale.

To test for differences in functional rarity, associated with our first question, and number of functional categories, associated with our second question, among the three scenarios at the local scale, we first defined nine levels of extinction, from 10 to 90% of extinction, and computed the functional rarity and the number of remaining functional categories in the scenarios at each step of extinction.
Then, we conducted non-parametric paired Friedman tests at each step of extinction to test for differences in functional rarity (first question) and number of functional categories (second question) and further pairwise comparisons using post-hoc analysis whenever we found a statistically significant difference among the scenarios (Leitão et al. 2016). At the regional scale, we computed the 95% confidence interval of the null model and compared to the other two extinction scenarios (Leitão et al. 2016). In this way, if the pattern found in an extinction scenario falls out of this confidence interval, then we can assume a significant difference from the random expectation.

We adopted a significance level of 5%, and all analysis were performed in the R software (R Core Team 2020), using the packages vegan (Oksanen et al. 2019), funrar (Grenié et al. 2017), dplyr (Wickham et al. 2020), ade4 (Dray and Dufour 2007) and PMCMR (Pohlert 2014).

## Results

We sampled 21,285 individuals of 95 species from 25 families and six orders (Appendix S1 – Table A1). The most abundant species were *Hyphessobrycon heterorhabdus* (Ulrey, 1894) (7,914 individuals), *Apistogramma regani* Kullander, 1980 (1,914 individuals) and *Microcharacidium weitzmani* Buckup, 1993 (1,797 individuals), which together accounted for > 50% of the sampling. Fourteen species had a local abundance of 1 and 28 species occurred in only one stream across the region (Appendix S1 – Table A1). At the local scale, species' scarcity index varied from 0.0001 to 0.993 (mean  $\pm$  SD = 0.68  $\pm$  0.30) and functional distinctiveness varied from 0.163 to 1 (0.48  $\pm$  0.10). At the regional scale, the restrictiveness index varied from 0.079 to 0.984 (0.83  $\pm$  0.23) and the functional uniqueness varied from 0 to 0.554 (0.093  $\pm$  0.12). The four most tolerant species survived under 0 of habitat integrity, whereas the two most sensible species survived only under 6.72 of habitat integrity (2.95  $\pm$  1.44) (Appendix S1 – Table A1).

The effects of extinction in the community's functional rarity differed depending on which set of species were extinct first. Once we extinct species based on their vulnerability to habitat integrity loss, the local functional distinctiveness increased in the scenario in which sensible species were extinct first, and decreased in the scenario in which tolerant species were extinct first (Fig. 2A). Both scenarios differed from each other and from the random extinction scenario at all nine levels of extinction at local scale. At the regional scale, we found the inverse pattern: in the extinction scenario of sensible species extinction, the regional uniqueness increased above the random expectation after 20% of extinction (Fig. 2B). Otherwise, in the scenario in which tolerant species were extinct first the regional uniqueness decreased below the random expectation after 25% species being extinct (Fig. 2B).



Figure 2. Relationship between mean functional rarity as distinctiveness at a local scale (A), and as uniqueness at a regional scale (B) in function of the extinction of individuals/populations in different extinction scenarios. Shapes in the middle are mean values of distinctiveness, and vertical bars are their 95% confidence intervals. The grey cloud around the regional random extinction scenario in B represents confidence intervals from the null model.

Regarding the patterns of functional extinction of the community at the local scale, in the scenario in which sensible species were extinct first, the first functional category was lost after <10% species being extinct (Fig. 3A). The first functional category lost after sensible species extinction varied across the streams. The piscivore functional category was lost first in 38.10% of the streams, followed by detritivore in 28.57% of the streams, algivore in 15.87%, hematophagous in 14.29%, and

allochthonous and autochthonous invertivore, each in 1.59% of the streams. Otherwise, in the scenario in which tolerant species were extinct first, the first functional category was lost only after ~90% of extinction (Fig. 3A). The first functional category lost also varied across the streams. Algivore was lost first in 43.10% of the streams, followed by detritivores and allochthonous invertivore, each in 20.69% of the streams, hematophagous in 8.62%, and autochthonous invertivore and piscivore, each in 3.45% of the streams (Fig. 3A). Both scenarios of extinction were different from each other and the random expectation at all steps of extinction.

At the regional scale, the first functional category was lost at 10% of species being extinct in the scenario of sensible species extinction, whereas more than 95% of species were extinct in the scenario of tolerant species extinction to observe such loss of functions (Fig. 3B). When sensible species were extinct first, the region lost hematophagous fish first, at 10% of extinction, then, at 40% of extinction, detritivores fish were regionally lost, followed by piscivores at ~70% of extinction, algivores at 75% and, finally, autochthonous invertivores were lost at 95% of extinction (Fig. 3B). On the other hand, when tolerant species were extinct first, the first functional category lost was hematophagous, at 95% of extinction (Fig. 3B). The scenario of sensible species extinction was always below the random expectation after 10% of extinction (i.e., functions were lost earlier than expected at random), but the scenario of tolerant species extinction never differed from the random expectation (Fig. 3B).



Figure 3. A plot of the number and first lost functional categories after extinction and at (A) local and (B) regional scale in the extinction scenarios. In the local plot (A), shapes in the middle are median values of the number of functions, and vertical bars are their confidence intervals. In the regional plot (B), the grey cloud around the random extinction scenario represents confidence intervals from the null model. Circles with 1<sup>st</sup>, 2<sup>nd</sup>, 3<sup>rd</sup>, 4<sup>th</sup>, and 5<sup>th</sup> represent the first, second, third, fourth and fifth lost functional category, respectively. Grey fish are piscivores, browns are detritivores, greens are algivores, reds are hematophagous, blue is allochthonous invertivore, and yellow is autochthonous invertivore.

#### Discussion

Our extinction scenarios driven by species' vulnerability to habitat loss revealed that vulnerable species, the ones that are rare and survive only under high habitat integrity, hold a distinct set of functional traits at local scale, partially corroborating our first hypothesis. Then, when these sensible species were locally extinct, the functional distinctiveness of the community decreased as only tolerant species remain in the community. These tolerant species frequently share its functional traits with other species in the same stream, a property known as functional redundancy (Biggs et al. 2020). This implies that when tolerant species are locally extinct, the ecosystem loses functional redundancy, which is associated with the resilience of the ecosystem. Nevertheless, sensible species are actually the most vulnerable to extinction after habitat loss, as shown by several studies thus far (e.g., Peressin et al. 2018, Zambrano et al. 2019, Dopheide et al. 2020, Edwards et al. 2020, Rocha-Santos et al. 2020). The extirpation of these sensible species will culminate in the disappearance of functions not provided by others in the community, bringing further disruption of important ecosystem processes that take place in Amazonian streams.

At the regional scale, tolerant species, the ones that are widespread across the basin and are able to survive under low habitat integrity, hold the unique functional traits contrary to our first hypothesis. This implies that sensible species, which hold distinct functional traits in each stream, actually hold redundant functional traits when we consider the entire region. The high uniqueness of the functional traits provided by tolerant species may assure the maintenance and resilience of these unique traits in the region, since these tolerant species are less prone to extinction due to habitat loss (Casatti et al. 2015b, Biggs et al. 2020). In this way, conservation programs and initiatives should choose to preserve a larger area, including entire basins in its delimitations to efficiently prevent functional loss of unique functions provided by streams fish, but unfortunately, this is not the reality of conservation programs in Brazil (Azevedo-Santos et al. 2019). Although the country has a national system that provides standard proceedings to implementing conservation units (Law 9985/2000: http://www.planalto.gov.br/ccivil\_03/leis/19985.htm), freshwater ecosystems are not the target of conservation in the majority of units, but rather terrestrial fauna and forests (Azevedo-Santos et al. 2019). Especially in the Amazon, the Brazilian government has an ongoing program that already covers 43% of the Amazon rainforest, but, as shown by Frederico et al. (2018), these conservation units fail to protect priority areas to stream fish.

Some studies also investigate the effects habitat loss in functional indexes, such as functional richness (Ibarra and Martin 2015), functional heterogeneity (García et al. 2013), and alpha and beta facets of functional diversity (Si et al. 2016, Brodie et al. 2021). Although the usage of functional indexes may reveal overall losses in ecosystem functioning, it fails at indicating which functional traits are at higher risk of extinction and the effects of its possible extinction to ecosystem functioning, an issue that ecological studies may overcome through investigating extinction patterns of individual functional traits (Zambrano et al. 2019). As we tracked the loss of individual functional categories of the fish diet trait to answer our second question, we found that, when sensible species were extinct, an abrupt loss of functional categories occurs right after the extinct of few individuals and populations at

local and regional scales, respectively. Otherwise, when tolerant species were extinct, the loss of functional categories only started after many species were extinct. This pattern reveals how functional redundancy (i.e., how many species supports each functional category) is structured among these two distinct sets of species. Sensible species are often less redundant, given that few species distributed in few individuals/populations support distinct traits, thus, the extinction of these species should easily lead to functional extinctions in the ecosystem (Walker 2016, Biggs et al. 2020). On the other hand, tolerant species are often more redundant, given that many individuals/populations are supporting the same functional category, thus, their extinction is less prone to lead to functional extinctions in the ecosystem since even if a species is extinct, others will still provide the same function to ecosystem dynamics (Cadotte et al. 2011, Biggs et al. 2020).

The pervasive effects of habitat loss scale from community to affect ecosystem functioning. In marine ecosystems, for instance, habitat loss through grazing by urchins lowers net ecosystem production and ecosystem respiration (Edwards et al. 2020). In tropical Atlantic rainforests, habitat loss by deforestation negatively affects reproductive traits supported by sensible tree species (Rocha-Santos et al. 2020). Regarding stream ecosystem in Amazon, we should expect cascade effects in ecosystem functioning after the extinction of piscivores, detritivores, algivores and hematophagous, the most vulnerable functional categories found in our study.

Piscivores control the population of its prey, which are often invertivores fish (Gilliam et al. 1993, Greenberg et al. 2005, Lovell et al. 2017). Thus, when piscivores disappear, the abundance of invertivores fish may increases due to a lower predation pressure, what leads to increases in the predation pressure in invertebrates (Gilliam et al. 1993, Greenberg et al. 2005, Lovell et al. 2017). This allows an overgrowth of algae in streams, which are less grazed thanks to the low abundance of grazing invertebrates, leading to detrimental effects on water quality and oxygen availability (Greenberg et al. 2005), but this inference is yet to be experimentally tested for the neotropics. The extinction of algivore fish will also lead to algae overgrowth in streams due to the reduction in grazing pressure, resulting in

similar effects to ecosystem functioning as the extinction of piscivores (Power et al. 1988, Flecker et al. 2002). Nonetheless, we should expect algae overgrowth in tropical streams after habitat loss, especially under loss of riparian vegetation due deforestation (Fugère et al. 2018). After deforestation in the margins, canopy density decreases, what increase solar radiation in the stream, further allowing algae to grow due to higher resource availability (Bixby et al. 2009, Fugère et al. 2018). Thus, habitat loss combined with extinction of piscivores and algivores will likely trigger a eutrophication process in Amazonian streams, creating a hypoxic system with low visibility and water quality (Flecker et al. 2002).

Hematophagous stream fish from the Trichomycteridae family indirectly lead to reductions in intraspecific competition among its host since it controls host' abundance (Spotte 2002). Only *Ituglanis* sp. and *Paracanthopoma* sp. support this functional category in the ecosystem, they make an incision in its host gills to engorge themselves in blood, leaving its host vulnerable to diseases and indirectly leading to host' death (Zuanon and Sazima 2004). Specifically, *Paracanthopoma* sp. uses its host to migrate between different habitat, contributing to nutrient exchange between different streams and rivers (Zuanon and Sazima 2005). Due to the lack of redundancy, hematophagous are at higher risk of extinction. If these species disappear, we may expect increases in host' abundance and associated increases in intraspecific competition among hosts, beyond the loss of a pathway of nutrient intake into streams (Zuanon and Sazima 2004, 2005).

Detritivore fish take part in the nutrient cycle of the streams as it feeds of the organic matter accumulated at stream bottom, releasing nutrients such as organic carbon, nitrogen and phosphorus into the stream, which are carried downriver by water flow (Flecker 1996, Taylor et al. 2006). This functional category was frequently one of the most vulnerable to extinction, and if these species disappear, then we can expect a disruption in nutrient cycling in the stream where organic matter will accumulate in stream's bottom and important nutrients will not be released into the water nor carried downriver (Taylor et al. 2006). Although this higher risk of extinction found in our study, there is evidence that some species of detritivore fish actually increases in abundance after deforestation and habitat loss, especially fish who play a role as detritivore-algivore in the ecosystem (Casatti et al. 2012, Peressin et al. 2018, Reis et al. 2020). After habitat loss, algae and organic matter are abundant in streams (Fugère et al. 2018), what allows for detritivore-algivore fish to grow in abundance (Casatti et al. 2012). However, this assumption is only true if these detritivore fish are tolerant enough to survive under the environmental conditions established after habitat loss, which is not always the case since some detritivore species are highly exigent regarding the nutritional quality of its food (Fugi and Hahn 1991).

Habitat loss is the main human modification driving the ongoing sixth mass extinction, in which species are disappearing a thousand times faster than expected (Pimm et al. 2014). At Amazon, deforestation rates only increase due to land use activities, threatening rare (Leitão et al. 2016, De Oliveira et al. 2018) and non-tolerant species (McKinney and Lockwood 1999, Michalski et al. 2007), which are prone to extinction during the Anthropocene. Throughout our realistic scenarios of extinction, which spatially scale the extirpation of individuals as species are extinct based on an integration of its rarity and vulnerability to habitat loss, we highlight that if these rare and non-tolerant (sensible species) fish indeed are extirpated from Amazon streams, we should expect abrupt functional losses at local scale, further altering ecosystem functioning. If the ongoing mass extinction event driven by habitat loss indeed targets sensible species to extinction, then the Amazon stream ecosystem will likely change after the extinction of detritivores, piscivores, algivores and hematophagous fish. The extinction of these functional categories will likely trigger a eutrophication process in the streams, beyond interrupt nutrient cycling of important nutrients to ecosystem maintenance. A way to mitigate these negative effects may be through the implementation of conservation units that comprise entire basins in its delimitation.

#### References

Albert, J. S. 2001. Species diversity and phylogenetic systematics of American knifefishes (Gymnotiformes, Teleostei). - Ann Arbor: Miscellaneous Publications.

Azevedo-Santos, V. M. et al. 2019. Protected areas: A focus on Brazilian freshwater biodiversity. -Divers. Distrib. 25: 442–448.

Biggs, C. R. et al. 2020. Does functional redundancy affect ecological stability and resilience? A review and meta-analysis. - Ecosphere in press.

Birkhofer, K. et al. 2015. Land-use effects on the functional distinctness of arthropod communities. -Ecography (Cop.). 38: 889–900.

Bixby, R. J. et al. 2009. Relationships of stream algal community structure to catchment deforestation in eastern Madagascar. - J. North Am. Benthol. Soc. 28: 466–479.

Brodie, J. F. et al. 2021. The decline of mammal functional and evolutionary diversity worldwide. -Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 118: e1921849118.

Bueno, A. S. et al. 2018. Ecological traits modulate bird species responses to forest fragmentation in an Amazonian anthropogenic archipelago. - Divers. Distrib. 24: 387–402.

Cadotte, M. W. et al. 2011. Beyond species: Functional diversity and the maintenance of ecological processes and services. - J. Appl. Ecol. 48: 1079–1087.

Casatti, L. et al. 2012. From forests to cattail: How does the riparian zone influence stream fish? -Neotrop. Ichthyol. 10: 205–214.

Casatti, L. et al. 2015a. More of the Same: High Functional Redundancy in Stream Fish Assemblages from Tropical Agroecosystems. - Environ. Manage. 55: 1300–1314.

Casatti, L. et al. 2015b. More of the Same: High Functional Redundancy in Stream Fish Assemblages from Tropical Agroecosystems. - Environ. Manage. 55: 1300–1314.

Chandra, G. et al. 2008. Mosquito control by larvivorous fish. - Indian J. Med. Res. 127: 13–27.

Datta, S. and Jana, B. B. 1998. Control of bloom in a tropical lake: Grazing efficiency of some herbivorous fishes. - J. Fish Biol. 53: 12–24.

De Góes Cavalcanti, L. P. et al. 2009. Survival of larvivorous fish used for biological control of Aedes aegypti larvae in domestic containers with different chlorine concentrations. - J. Med. Entomol. 46: 841–844.

De Oliveira, T. G. et al. 2018. How rare is rare? Quantifying and assessing the rarity of the bush dog Speothos venaticus across the Amazon and other biomes. - Oryx 52: 98–107.

Dopheide, A. et al. 2020. Rarity is a more reliable indicator of land-use impacts on soil invertebrate communities than other diversity metrics. - Elife 9: 1–41.

Dray, S. and Dufour, A. B. 2007. The ade4 package: Implementing the duality diagram for ecologists. - J. Stat. Softw. 22: 1–20.

Edwards, M. et al. 2020. Marine deforestation leads to widespread loss of ecosystem function. - PLoS One 15: 1–21.

Ferreira, M. C. and Begot, T. O. 2018. Effects of oil palm plantations on habitat structure and fish assemblages in Amazon streams. in press.

Flecker, A. S. 1996. Ecosystem Engineering by a Dominant Detritivore in a Diverse Tropical Stream.Ecology 77: 1845–1854.

Flecker, A. S. et al. 2002. Interactions between herbivorous fishes and limiting nutrients in a tropical stream ecosystem. - Ecology 83: 1831–1844.

Flynn, D. F. B. et al. 2009. Loss of functional diversity under land use intensification across multiple taxa. - Ecol. Lett. 12: 22–33.

Foley, J. A. et al. 2014. Forest Degradation and Loss of Ecosystem Goods and Services in the Amazon Basin. - Front. Ecol. 5: 25–32.

Frederico, R. G. et al. 2018. Amazon protected areas and its ability to protect stream-dwelling fish fauna. - Biol. Conserv. 219: 12–19.

Fugère, V. et al. 2018. Ecosystem structure and function of afrotropical streams with contrasting land use. - Freshw. Biol. 63: 1498–1513.

Fugi, R. and Hahn, N. S. 1991. Espectro alimentar e relações morfológicas com o aparelho digestivo de três espécies de peixes comedores de fundo do rio Paraná, Brasil. - Rev. Bras. Biol. 51: 873–879.

García, D. et al. 2013. Functional heterogeneity in a plant-frugivore assemblage enhances seed dispersal resilience to habitat loss. - Ecography (Cop.). 36: 197–208.

Gilliam, J. F. et al. 1993. Structure of a Tropical Stream Fish Community: A Role for Biotic Interactions. - Ecology 74: 1856–1870.

Greenberg, L. et al. 2005. Indirect behavioral effects of a piscivore on trophic interactions in stream enclosures. - Arch. fur Hydrobiol. 164: 39–51.

Grenié, M. et al. 2017. funrar: An R package to characterize functional rarity. - Divers. Distrib. 23: 1365–1371.

2014. Insetos aquáticos na Amazônia brasileira: taxonomia, biologia e ecologia (N Hamada, JL Nessimian, and RB Querino, Eds.). - Editora do Instituto Nacional de Pesquisas da Amazônia.

Hargrave, C. W. 2006. A test of three alternative pathways for consumer regulation of primary productivity. - Oecologia 149: 123–132.

Hargrave, C. W. et al. 2006. Indirect food web interactions increase growth of an algivorous stream fish. - Freshw. Biol. 51: 1901–1910.

Hubbell, S. P. 2013. Tropical rain forest conservation and the twin challenges of diversity and rarity.Ecol. Evol. 3: 3263–3274.

Hull, P. M. et al. 2015. Rarity in mass extinctions and the future of ecosystems. - Nature 528: 345–351.

Hyslop, E. J. 1980. Stomach contents analysis-a review of methods and their application. - J. Fish Biol 17

Ibarra, J. T. and Martin, K. 2015. Biotic homogenization: Loss of avian functional richness and habitat specialists in disturbed Andean temperate forests. - Biol. Conserv. 192: 418–427.

Juen, L. et al. 2016. Effects of Oil Palm Plantations on the Habitat Structure and Biota of Streams in Eastern Amazon. - River Res. Appl. 32: 2081–2094.

Kaufmann, P. R. et al. 1999. Quantifying Physical Habitat in Wadeable Streams (EPA/620/R-99/003, Ed.). - U.S. Environmental Protection Agency.

King, R. S. and Baker, M. E. 2014. Use, Misuse, and Limitations of Threshold Indicator Taxa Analysis (TITAN) for Natural Resource Management. - In: Guntenspergen, G. R. (ed), Application of Threshold Concepts in Natural Resource Decision Making. Springer New York, pp. 231–254.

Klemm, D. J. et al. 2003. Development and evaluation of a Macroinvertebrate Biotic Integrity Index (MBII) for regionally assessing Mid-Atlantic Highlands streams. - Environ. Manage. 31: 656–669.

Leitão, R. P. et al. 2016. Rare species contribute disproportionately to the functional structure of species assemblages. - Proc. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. in press.

Lovell, J. A. et al. 2017. Fish predation and macroinvertebrate abundance on snags in low-gradient blackwater streams. - Freshw. Sci. 36: 626–634.

McKinney, M. L. and Lockwood, J. L. 1999. Biotic homogenization: a few winners replacing many losers in the next mass extinction. - Trends Ecol. Evol. 14: 450–453.

Michalski, F. et al. 2007. Disturbance-mediated drift in tree functional groups in Amazonian forest fragments. - Biotropica 39: 691–701.

Montag, L. F. A. et al. 2019. Land cover, riparian zones and instream habitat influence stream fish assemblages in the eastern Amazon. - Ecol. Freshw. Fish 28: 317–329.

Mugnai, R. et al. 2010. Manual de identificação de macroinvertebrados Aquáticos do estado do Rio de Janeiro. - Technical Books.

Naeem, S. 1998. Species redundancy and ecosystem reliability. - Conserv. Biol. 12: 39-45.

Nakano, S. and Murakami, M. 2001. Reciprocal subsidies: Dynamic interdependence between terrestrial and aquatic food webs. - Pnas 98: 166–170.

Oksanen, J. et al. 2019. vegan: Community Ecology Package. in press.

Pavoine, S. et al. 2009. On the challenge of treating various types of variables: application for improving the measurement of functional diversity. - Oikos 118: 391–402.

Peck, D. et al. 2006. Environmental Monitoring and Assessment Program-Surface Waters Western Pilot Study: Field Operations Manual for Wadeable Streams. - US Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Research and Development.

Peressin, A. et al. 2018. Ichthyofauna diet changes in response to urbanization: the case of upper Paranapanema River basin (Brazil). - Urban Ecosyst. 21: 795–803.

Pimm, S. L. et al. 2014. The biodiversity of species and their rates of extinction, distribution, and protection. - Science (80-. ). in press.

Pohlert, T. 2014. The Pairwise Multiple Comparison of Mean Ranks Package (PMCMR). in press.

Power, M. E. et al. 1988. Grazer Control of Algae in an Ozark Mountain Stream: Effects of Short-Term Exclusion. - Ecology 69: 1894–1898.

Prudente, B. S. et al. 2017. Effects of reduced-impact logging on physical habitat and fish assemblages in streams of Eastern Amazonia. - Freshw. Biol. 62: 303–316.

Prudente, B. da S. et al. 2018. Using multimetric indices to assess the effect of reduced impact logging on ecological integrity of Amazonian streams. - Ecol. Indic. 91: 315–323.

R Core Team 2020. R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. in press.

Reis, R. E. et al. 2003. Check list of the freshwater fishes of South and Central America. - Edipucrs.

Reis, A. da S. et al. 2020. Food web pathways for fish communities in small tropical streams. - Freshw. Biol. 65: 893–907.

Rocha-Santos, L. et al. 2020. The loss of functional diversity: A detrimental influence of landscapescale deforestation on tree reproductive traits. - J. Ecol. 108: 212–223.

Si, X. et al. 2016. Selective extinction drives taxonomic and functional alpha and beta diversities in island bird assemblages. - J. Anim. Ecol. 85: 409–418.

Spotte, S. 2002. Candiru: life and legend of the bloodsucking catfishes. - Creative Arts Book Co.

Taylor, B. W. et al. 2006. Loss of a harvested fish species disrupts carbon flow in a diverse tropical river. - Science (80-. ). 313: 833–836.

TerraBrasilis 2020. PRODES (Desmatamento).

Van der Sleen, P. and Albert, J. S. 2018. Field guide to the fishes of the Amazon, Orinoco, and Guianas.Princeton University Press.

Vanni, M. J. 2002. Nutrient cycling by animals in freshwater ecosystems. - Annu. Rev. Ecol. Syst. 33: 341–370.

Violle, C. et al. 2007. Let the concept of trait be functional! - Oikos 116: 882–892.

Violle, C. et al. 2017. Functional Rarity: The Ecology of Outliers. - Trends Ecol. Evol. 32: 356–367.

Walker, B. H. 2016. Biodiversity and Ecological Redundancy Biodiversity and Ecological Redundancy. - Conserv. Biol. 6: 18–23.

Wesner, J. S. 2010. Aquatic predation alters a terrestrial prey subsidy. - Ecology 91: 1435–1444.

Wickham, H. et al. 2020. dplyr: A Grammar of Data Manipulation. in press.

Zambrano, J. et al. 2019. The effects of habitat loss and fragmentation on plant functional traits and functional diversity: what do we know so far? - Oecologia 191: 505–518.

Zemp, D. C. et al. 2017. Deforestation effects on Amazon forest resilience. - Geophys. Res. Lett. 44: 6182–6190.

Zuanon, J. and Sazima, I. 2004. Vampire catfishes seek the aorta not the jugular: candirus of the genus Vandellia (Trichomycteridae) feed on major gill arteries of host fishes. - J. Ichthyol. Aquat. Biol. 8: 31–36.

Zuanon, J. and Sazima, I. 2005. Free meals on long-distance cruisers: the vampire fish rides giant catfishes in the Amazon. - Biota Neotrop. 5: 109–114.

## **Supporting information**

Appendix A: Taxonomic composition, total abundance, occurrence, diet trait and its respectively functional categories, minimal integrity needed for species to survive, and local and regional indexes of the taxonomic and functional rarity and vulnerability to habitat loss.

Table A1. Taxonomic composition, total abundance (TAb), occurrence (Occ; as the number of streams that the species occurred within the 63 sampled), the proportion of each functional category in the diet functional trait for species, minimal integrity needed for species to survive (MiInt), and local and regional indexes of the taxonomic and functional rarity and vulnerability to habitat loss of the fish assemblage in the 63 sampled streams. AuI = Autochthonous Invertivore; AlI = Allochthonous Invertivore; Pis = Piscivores; Alg = Algivore; Det = Detritivore; Lrv = Larvivorous; Hmt = Hematophagous; LcSc = Local Scarcity; RgRst = Regional Restrictiveness; LcDst = Local Distinctiveness; RgUni = Regional Uniqueness; Lc = Local; Rg = Regional.

Taxon		Occ			Diet	fuzzy	trait			MiInt	Tax. rarity		Func. rarity		Vuln. to habitat loss	
			AuI	AlI	Pis	Alg	Det	Lrv	Hmt		LcSc	RgRst	LcDst	RgUni	Lc	Rg
BELONIFORMES																
Belonidae																
Potamorrhaphis eigenmanni Miranda Ribeiro, 1915	1	1	0.08	0.77	0.15	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.01	0.97	0.98	0.83	0.14	0.49	0.50
CHARACIFORMES																
Characidae																
Astyanax bimaculatus (Linnaeus, 1758)	12	1	0.03	0.70	0.06	0.00	0.00	0.20	0.00	0.21	0.72	0.98	0.40	0.15	0.47	0.60
Bario steindachneri (Eigenmann, 1893)	3	3	0.00	1.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.30	0.96	0.95	0.71	0.01	0.63	0.63
Hemigrammus belottii (Steindachner, 1882)	331	18	0.00	0.98	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.02	0.00	0.33	0.57	0.71	0.72	0.01	0.45	0.52
Hemigrammus geisleri Zarske & Géry, 2007	1	1	0.00	0.50	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.50	0.00	0.22	0.97	0.98	0.40	0.00	0.59	0.60
Hemigrammus ocellifer (Steindachner, 1882)	187	17	0.33	0.33	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.33	0.00	0.49	0.70	0.73	0.39	0.00	0.60	0.61
Hemigrammus rhodostomus Ahl, 1924	1	1	0.45	0.00	0.09	0.46	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.95	0.98	0.87	0.10	0.47	0.49

Hemigrammus rodwayi Durbin, 1909	508	5	0.00	0.50	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.50	0.00	0.14	0.31	0.92	0.47	0.00	0.22	0.53
Hemigrammus sp.	86	1	0.00	0.50	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.50	0.00	0.01	0.06	0.98	0.73	0.00	0.04	0.50
Hemigrammus unilineatus (Gill, 1858)	55	2	0.33	0.33	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.33	0.00	0.17	0.24	0.97	0.34	0.00	0.21	0.57
Hyphessobrycon bentosi Durbin, 1908	3	3	0.25	0.25	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.50	0.00	0.09	0.95	0.95	0.44	0.12	0.52	0.52
Hyphessobrycon heterorhabdus (Ulrey, 1894)	7914	56	0.13	0.38	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.50	0.00	0.22	0.22	0.11	0.39	0.15	0.22	0.16
Knodus victoriae (Steindachner, 1907)	8	2	0.00	0.50	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.50	0.00	0.50	0.68	0.97	0.50	0.00	0.59	0.73
Moenkhausia collettii (Steindachner, 1882)	3	3	0.00	0.50	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.50	0.00	0.17	0.92	0.95	0.38	0.00	0.55	0.56
Moenkhausia comma Eigenmann, 1908	10	4	0.00	0.50	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.50	0.00	0.23	0.92	0.94	0.37	0.00	0.58	0.58
Moenkhausia oligolepis (Günther, 1864)	14	6	0.16	0.48	0.06	0.05	0.01	0.24	0.00	0.22	0.95	0.90	0.38	0.23	0.58	0.56
Phenacogaster pectinatus (Cope, 1870)	1	1	0.29	0.38	0.00	0.03	0.01	0.29	0.00	0.50	0.87	0.98	0.49	0.10	0.68	0.74
Serrapinnus sp.	3	1	0.72	0.17	0.01	0.10	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.21	0.92	0.98	0.87	0.07	0.57	0.60
Crenuchidae																
Characidium etheostoma Cope, 1872	65	14	1.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.39	0.85	0.78	0.79	0.00	0.62	0.59
Characidium sp.	4	1	0.60	0.03	0.00	0.03	0.00	0.34	0.00	0.30	0.69	0.98	0.59	0.09	0.50	0.64
Characidium zebra Eigenmann, 1909	1	1	0.42	0.01	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.56	0.00	0.50	0.87	0.98	0.63	0.08	0.68	0.74
Crenuchus spilurus Günther, 1863	150	12	0.33	0.33	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.33	0.00	0.33	0.78	0.81	0.38	0.00	0.56	0.57
Melanocharacidium dispilomma Buckup, 1993	2	2	0.50	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.50	0.00	0.22	0.92	0.97	0.54	0.00	0.57	0.59
Microcharacidium weitzmani Buckup, 1993	1797	35	0.33	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.67	0.00	0.36	0.43	0.44	0.49	0.00	0.40	0.40
Curimatidae																
Curimatopsis crypticus Vari, 1982	18	3	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	1.00	0.00	0.00	0.09	0.88	0.95	1.00	0.00	0.49	0.52
Steindachnerina amazonica (Steindachner, 1911)	1	1	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.50	0.50	0.00	0.00	0.21	0.97	0.98	0.99	0.54	0.59	0.60
Erythrinidae																
Erythrinus erythrinus (Bloch & Schneider, 1801)	537	47	0.17	0.33	0.33	0.00	0.00	0.17	0.00	0.47	0.72	0.25	0.61	0.23	0.60	0.36
Hoplias curupira Oyakawa & Mattox, 2009	2	1	0.25	0.25	0.25	0.00	0.00	0.25	0.00	0.38	0.94	0.98	0.48	0.00	0.66	0.68
Hoplias malabaricus (Bloch, 1794)	54	22	0.31	0.00	0.69	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.22	0.88	0.65	0.91	0.02	0.55	0.43
Gasteropelecidae																
Carnegiella strigata (Günther, 1864)	67	7	0.10	0.90	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.25	0.66	0.89	0.73	0.08	0.46	0.57
Iguanodectidae																
Bryconops caudomaculatus (Günther, 1864)	7	2	0.00	0.50	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.50	0.00	0.00	0.86	0.97	0.26	0.00	0.43	0.48
Bryconops sp.	26	4	0.00	0.67	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.33	0.00	0.10	0.85	0.94	0.38	0.13	0.48	0.52
Iguanodectes rachovii Regan, 1912	1086	36	0.00	0.50	0.00	0.17	0.00	0.33	0.00	0.37	0.40	0.43	0.51	0.19	0.38	0.40

#### Lebiasinidae

Copella arnoldi (Regan, 1912)	851	25	0.15	0.35	0.00	0.10	0.00	0.40	0.00	0.44	0.39	0.60	0.35	0.15	0.41	0.52
Nannostomus beckfordi Günther, 1872	11	1	0.50	0.00	0.00	0.50	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.21	0.74	0.98	0.97	0.00	0.48	0.60
Nannostomus nitidus Weitzman, 1978	103	5	0.50	0.00	0.00	0.50	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.06	0.58	0.92	0.93	0.00	0.32	0.49
Nannostomus trifasciatus Steindachner, 1876	117	21	0.33	0.00	0.00	0.33	0.00	0.33	0.00	0.36	0.79	0.67	0.63	0.00	0.58	0.51
Pyrrhulina brevis Steindachner, 1876	1239	58	0.00	0.50	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.50	0.00	0.23	0.62	0.08	0.38	0.00	0.43	0.15
CICHLIFORMES																
Cichlidae																
Aequidens tetramerus (Heckel, 1840)	312	46	0.00	0.40	0.00	0.40	0.00	0.20	0.00	0.27	0.81	0.27	0.64	0.33	0.54	0.27
Apistogramma agassizii (Steindachner, 1875)	221	12	0.22	0.22	0.00	0.11	0.00	0.44	0.00	0.37	0.64	0.81	0.32	0.14	0.50	0.59
Apistogramma regani Kullander, 1980	1914	53	0.33	0.22	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.44	0.00	0.30	0.39	0.16	0.41	0.09	0.34	0.23
Crenicichla reticulata (Heckel, 1840)	4	3	0.50	0.00	0.50	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.23	0.94	0.95	0.86	0.00	0.59	0.59
Crenicichla saxatilis (Linnaeus, 1758)	158	28	0.33	0.00	0.33	0.00	0.00	0.33	0.00	0.22	0.78	0.56	0.66	0.00	0.50	0.39
Heros sp.	1	1	0.25	0.25	0.00	0.00	0.25	0.25	0.00	0.00	0.95	0.98	0.57	0.00	0.47	0.49
Nannacara taenia Regan, 1912	213	14	0.33	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.67	0.00	0.37	0.62	0.78	0.39	0.00	0.49	0.57
Satanoperca jurupari (Heckel, 1840)	8	2	1.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.88	0.97	0.90	0.00	0.44	0.48
CYPRINODONTIFORMES																
Poeciliidae																
Poecilia sp.	51	1	0.28	0.27	0.00	0.00	0.14	0.31	0.00	0.17	0.03	0.98	0.35	0.18	0.10	0.58
Rivulidae																
Anablepsoides sp.	1	1	0.15	0.26	0.14	0.13	0.13	0.20	0.00	0.25	0.95	0.98	0.54	0.34	0.60	0.62
Anablepsoides urophthalmus (Günther, 1866)	493	44	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	1.00	0.00	0.14	0.74	0.30	0.56	0.15	0.44	0.22
Laimosemion strigatus (Regan, 1912)	245	8	0.33	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.67	0.00	0.38	0.35	0.87	0.46	0.00	0.36	0.62
GYMNOTIFORMES																
Gymnotidae																
Gymnotus carapo Linnaeus, 1758	10	8	0.55	0.04	0.00	0.00	0.07	0.33	0.00	0.31	0.95	0.87	0.59	0.09	0.63	0.59
Gymnotus coropinae Hoedeman, 1962	229	39	0.50	0.00	0.25	0.00	0.00	0.25	0.00	0.46	0.79	0.38	0.66	0.16	0.63	0.42
Gymnotus pantherinus (Steindachner, 1908)	115	24	0.49	0.11	0.21	0.02	0.00	0.17	0.00	0.40	0.79	0.62	0.64	0.16	0.60	0.51
Gymnotus sp.	7	6	0.33	0.00	0.33	0.00	0.00	0.33	0.00	0.36	0.93	0.90	0.61	0.00	0.65	0.63
Hypopomidae																
Brachyhypopomus beebei (Schultz, 1944)	77	10	0.20	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.80	0.00	0.49	0.89	0.84	0.46	0.00	0.69	0.67

90

Brachyhypopomus brevirostris (Steindachner, 1868)	55	16	0.20	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.80	0.00	0.44	0.88	0.75	0.45	0.00	0.66	0.59
Brachyhypopomus sp.1	19	3	0.33	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.67	0.00	0.23	0.81	0.95	0.35	0.00	0.52	0.59
Brachyhypopomus sp.2	235	24	0.33	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.67	0.00	0.37	0.80	0.62	0.45	0.00	0.59	0.49
Brachyhypopomus sp.3	12	6	0.33	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.67	0.00	0.37	0.93	0.90	0.40	0.00	0.65	0.64
Brachyhypopomus sp.4	7	3	0.33	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.67	0.00	0.40	0.88	0.95	0.35	0.00	0.64	0.68
Hypopygus lepturus Hoedeman, 1962	78	14	0.40	0.20	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.40	0.00	0.25	0.83	0.78	0.42	0.09	0.54	0.51
Microsternarchus bilineatus Fernández-Yépez, 1968	69	12	0.33	0.33	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.33	0.00	0.29	0.79	0.81	0.40	0.00	0.54	0.55
Rhamphichthyidae																
Gymnorhamphichthys petiti Géry & Vu, 1964	442	29	0.87	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.13	0.00	0.29	0.55	0.54	0.78	0.10	0.42	0.41
Sternopygidae																
Eigenmannia sp.	1	1	0.33	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.33	0.33	0.00	0.48	0.96	0.98	0.57	0.00	0.72	0.73
Eigenmannia trilineata López & Castello, 1966	2	1	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.18	0.82	0.00	0.17	0.87	0.98	0.60	0.15	0.52	0.58
Sternopygus macrurus (Bloch & Schneider, 1801)	2	2	0.45	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.05	0.50	0.00	0.30	0.94	0.97	0.57	0.06	0.62	0.64
SILURIFORMES																
Aspredinidae																
Bunocephalus coracoideus (Cope, 1874)	7	2	0.50	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.50	0.00	0.17	0.81	0.97	0.43	0.00	0.49	0.57
Auchenipteridae																
Tetranematichthys wallacei Vari & Ferraris, 2006	1	1	0.25	0.25	0.25	0.00	0.00	0.25	0.00	0.49	0.96	0.98	0.53	0.00	0.73	0.74
Callichthyidae																
Callichthys (Linnaeus, 1758)	6	5	0.33	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.33	0.33	0.00	0.53	0.98	0.92	0.65	0.00	0.75	0.72
Corydoras melanistius Regan, 1912	3	1	0.25	0.25	0.00	0.00	0.25	0.25	0.00	0.50	0.66	0.98	0.60	0.00	0.58	0.74
Corydoras sp.	5	1	0.26	0.00	0.00	0.50	0.00	0.24	0.00	0.17	0.70	0.98	0.71	0.24	0.44	0.58
Megalechis picta (Müller & Troschel, 1849)	1	1	0.80	0.10	0.00	0.10	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.49	0.96	0.98	0.74	0.07	0.73	0.74
Megalechis thoracata (Valenciennes, 1840)	2	2	0.25	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.25	0.50	0.00	0.67	0.97	0.97	0.48	0.24	0.82	0.82
Cetopsidae																
Denticetopsis epa Vari, Ferraris & de Pinna, 2005	14	9	0.50	0.50	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.39	0.90	0.86	0.64	0.00	0.65	0.63
Denticetopsis sp.	1	1	0.50	0.50	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.17	0.87	0.98	0.67	0.00	0.52	0.58
Helogenes marmoratus Günther, 1863	510	54	0.00	0.57	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.43	0.00	0.20	0.70	0.14	0.43	0.10	0.45	0.17
Doradidae																
Acanthodoras cataphractus (Linnaeus, 1758)	1	1	0.50	0.00	0.50	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.67	0.97	0.98	0.86	0.00	0.82	0.83
Heptapteridae																

Gladioglanis conquistador Lundberg et al. 1991	39	2	0.00	0.33	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.67	0.00	0.41	0.56	0.97	0.44	0.19	0.49	0.69
Mastiglanis asopos Bockmann, 1994	29	6	0.00	0.50	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.50	0.00	0.31	0.82	0.90	0.49	0.00	0.57	0.61
Pimelodella geryi Hoedeman, 1961	2	1	0.24	0.00	0.52	0.00	0.00	0.24	0.00	0.25	0.91	0.98	0.74	0.26	0.58	0.62
Pimelodella sp.	8	6	0.30	0.02	0.68	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.22	0.94	0.90	0.90	0.02	0.58	0.56
Rhamdia muelleri (Günther, 1864)	12	5	0.00	0.00	1.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.47	0.89	0.92	0.96	0.29	0.68	0.70
Rhamdia quelen (Quoy & Gaimard, 1824)	3	1	0.35	0.09	0.45	0.03	0.04	0.04	0.00	0.25	0.87	0.98	0.79	0.16	0.56	0.62
Rhamdia sp.	2	2	0.42	0.00	0.25	0.25	0.00	0.08	0.00	0.41	0.97	0.97	0.75	0.31	0.69	0.69
Loricariidae																
Farlowella amazonum (Günther, 1864)	21	9	0.00	0.00	0.00	1.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.33	0.84	0.86	0.96	0.00	0.58	0.59
Otocinclus mura Schaefer, 1997	4	1	0.00	0.00	0.00	1.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.41	0.87	0.98	0.98	0.00	0.64	0.70
Rineloricaria hasemani Isbrücker & Nijssen, 1979	3	2	0.33	0.00	0.00	0.33	0.00	0.33	0.00	0.30	0.93	0.97	0.61	0.00	0.62	0.64
Rineloricaria sp.	2	2	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	1.00	0.00	0.00	0.17	0.90	0.97	0.97	0.00	0.54	0.57
Pseudopimelodidae																
Batrochoglanis raninus (Valenciennes, 1840)	6	4	0.50	0.00	0.50	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.31	0.88	0.94	0.78	0.00	0.59	0.62
Microglanis poecilus Eigenmann, 1912	1	1	0.50	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.50	0.00	0.25	0.95	0.98	0.42	0.00	0.60	0.62
Trichomycteridae																
Ituglanis amazonicus (Steindachner, 1882)	113	24	0.33	0.33	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.33	0.00	0.31	0.81	0.62	0.40	0.00	0.56	0.46
Ituglanis sp.	19	5	0.25	0.00	0.25	0.00	0.00	0.25	0.25	0.31	0.83	0.92	0.69	0.37	0.57	0.62
Paracanthopoma sp.	25	7	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.40	0.60	0.44	0.84	0.89	0.82	0.55	0.64	0.66
Potamoglanis hasemani (Eigenmann, 1914)	183	20	0.50	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.50	0.00	0.38	0.74	0.68	0.50	0.00	0.56	0.53
SYNBRANCHIFORMES																
Synbranchidae																
Synbranchus marmoratus Bloch, 1795	2	1	0.19	0.10	0.19	0.00	0.00	0.52	0.00	0.25	0.91	0.98	0.43	0.27	0.58	0.62

# **CONCLUSÃO GERAL**

Evidenciamos que espécies raras, em escala local e regional, e sensíveis à perda de habitat, em escala local, são as espécies de peixes que desempenham papéis mais distintos no funcionamento dos ecossistemas de riachos amazônicos. Entretanto, em escala regional, espécies de peixes tolerantes à perda de habitat são as que desempenham papéis únicos no funcionamento do ecossistema, o que pode assegurar a resiliência dos riachos na região amazônica. Os cenários de extinção simulados nos dois capítulos indicaram que os riachos sofrerão uma perda funcional abrupta logo após a extinção de poucas espécies raras e sensíveis à perda de habitat em escala local e regional. Em contrapartida, espécies comuns e tolerantes suportam a extinção de muitos indivíduos até que alguma perda funcional ocorra no ecossistema, o que garante a resiliência das funções que eles desempenham. Se o atual evento de extinção em massa promovido pela perda de habitat realmente levar à extinção de espécies raras e sensíveis, como indicado por diversos estudos (e.g., BUENO et al., 2018; KIESSLING; ABERHAN, 2007; LYONS et al., 2005; MOUILLOT et al., 2013; SYKES et al., 2020), então podemos esperar após a extinção de peixes detritívoros, piscívoros, algívoros e hematófagos. Estas extinções funcionais podem desencadear um processo de eutrofização nos riachos, além de interromper a ciclagem de nutrientes importantes para a manutenção do ecossistema. Alertamos para a urgência de se conservar áreas prioritárias para peixes de riacho, preferencialmente incluindo bacias hidrográficas inteiras em suas delimitações para assegurar o funcionamento da região. Considerando a rápida extinção de espécies no Antropoceno, uma abordagem baseada em identificar quais funções são mais vulneráveis à extinção pode agregar à clássica identificação de espécies vulneráveis e prover insights acerca de como o funcionamento do ecossistema pode mudar em consequência de futuras extinções de espécies.

# REFERÊNCIAS DOS ARTIGOS UTILIZADOS NA INTRODUÇÃO GERAL E CONCLUSÃO GERAL

BUENO, A. S. *et al.* Ecological traits modulate bird species responses to forest fragmentation in an Amazonian anthropogenic archipelago. **Diversity and Distributions**, 2018. v. 24, n. 3, p. 387–402.

DIRZO, R. et al. Defaunation in the Anthropocene. Science, 2014. v. 345, n. 6195, p. 401-406.

HARNIK, P. G.; SIMPSON, C.; PAYNE, J. L. Long-term differences in extinction risk among the seven forms of rarity. **Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences**, 2012. v. 279, n. 1749, p. 4969–4976.

HULL, P. M.; DARROCH, S. A. F.; ERWIN, D. H. **Rarity in mass extinctions and the future of** ecosystems. Nature. Nature Publishing Group. Disponível em: <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/nature16160">http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/nature16160</a>>.

KIESSLING, W.; ABERHAN, M. Geographical distribution and extinction risk: Lessons from Triassic-Jurassic marine benthic organisms. **Journal of Biogeography**, 2007. v. 34, n. 9, p. 1473– 1489.

LEITÃO, R. P. *et al.* Rare species contribute disproportionately to the functional structure of species assemblages. **Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences**, 2016. v. 283, n. 1828.

LYONS, K. G. *et al.* Rare species and ecosystem functioning. **Conservation Biology**, 2005. v. 19, n. 4, p. 1019–1024.

MAMMOLA, S. *et al.* Concepts and applications in functional diversity. **EcoEvoRxiv**, 2020. n. December.

MOUILLOT, D. *et al.* Rare Species Support Vulnerable Functions in High-Diversity Ecosystems. **PLoS Biology**, 2013. v. 11, n. 5.

PIMM, S. L. *et al.* The biodiversity of species and their rates of extinction, distribution, and protection. **Science**, 2014. v. 344, n. 6187.

RABINOWITZ, D. Seven forms of rarity. *In*: SYNGE, J. (Org.). **The Biological Aspects of Rare Plant Conservation**. Chichester, UK: Wiley, 1981, p. 205–217.

SIQUEIRA, T. *et al.* Common and rare species respond to similar niche processes in macroinvertebrate metacommunities. **Ecography**, 2012. v. 35, n. 2, p. 183–192.

SYKES, L. *et al.* Effects of rarity form on species' responses to land use. **Conservation Biology**, 2020. v. 34, n. 3, p. 688–696.

VIOLLE, C. *et al.* Functional Rarity: The Ecology of Outliers. **Trends in Ecology & Evolution**, 2017. v. 32, n. 5, p. 356–367. Disponível em: <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2017.02.002">http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2017.02.002</a>>.

# LISTA DE ARTIGOS PUBLICADOS/SUBMETIDOS DURANTE O MESTRADO

CASTRO, L. S.; SOUZA-LOPES, A. A.; **COLARES, L. F.**; PALHETA, L.; MENEZES, M. S.; FERNANDES, L. M.; DUNCK, B. Dam promotes downriver functional homogenization of phytoplankton in a transitional river-reservoir system in Amazon. *Limnology*, 2021. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10201-021-00650-6

ADAME, K. L.; **COLARES, L. F.**; RODRIGUES, L.; DUNCK, B. Dispersal increases beta diversity in periphytic algae communities of subtropical floodplain lakes. *Brazilian Journal of Botany*, 2021.

**COLARES, L. F.** Differences in leaf litter usage as a food resource, refuge and foraging substrate by invertebrates in forest and grassland in eastern Amazon. Accepted for publication in: *Boletim do Museu Paraense Emílio Goeldi. Ciências Naturais*, 2021.

**COLARES, L. F.**; LOBATO, C.; MONTAG, L. F. A.; DUNCK, B. Extinction of scarce and restrict fish species lead to abrupt functional losses in Amazonian streams. Under review in: *Freshwater Biology*, 2021.